UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Emotional and Behavioral Health Symptoms in Black Breast Cancer Survivors: Interpreting the Impact of Risk, Resilience, and Coping Using a Culturally-Relevant Approach

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0th028fs

Author

Pageot, Yrvane Kassandra

Publication Date

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Emotional and Behavioral Health Symptoms in Black Breast Cancer Survivors: Interpreting the

Impact of Risk, Resilience, and Coping Using a Culturally-Relevant Approach

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of

Philosophy in Psychology

by

Yrvane Kassandra Pageot

© Copyright by

Yrvane Kassandra Pageot

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Emotional and Behavioral Health Symptoms in Black Breast Cancer Survivors: Interpreting the Impact of Risk, Resilience, and Coping Using a Culturally-Relevant Approach

by

Yrvane Kassandra Pageot Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology Professor Julienne E. Bower, Chair

I. Abstract

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among Black women in the US, and empirical evidence consistently shows that they have poor breast cancer-related health outcomes. Although the five-year survival rate for breast cancer for women is 90%, racial differences are evident such that the five-year survival rate for Black women is 78%. There is a paucity of research that focuses on predictors of emotional and behavioral health outcomes, particularly in Black women, despite evidence that women in this clinical population report depressive and anxiety symptoms and sleep disturbance throughout the breast cancer continuum. The current study utilized a mixed-methods approach to examine predictors of emotional and behavioral health for breast cancer. Participants (N=151) completed an online assessment to report risk factors (i.e., racial discrimination), resilience factors (i.e., hope, optimism), culturally-relevant factors (e.g., Strong Black Woman schema, John Henryism), coping strategies (i.e., COPE, Africultural Coping Systems Inventory), distress (i.e., depressive, anxiety symptoms), and sleep disturbance. Participants also completed open-ended responses to report Strong Black Woman qualities and breast cancer-related illness perceptions.

Consistent with hypotheses, psychological resilience was associated with lower levels of distress and sleep disturbance. In addition, racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities were associated with higher levels of distress and sleep disturbance. Mediation analyses showed that approach-oriented coping strategies significantly mediated effects of psychological resilience and race-related factors on sleep disturbance as hypothesized, and avoidant-oriented coping strategies significantly mediated effects of psychological resilience and race-related factors on distress. Analyses of qualitative data indicate that Black women acknowledge that they neglect their health by engaging in behaviors that increase risk for poor health, underutilizing the healthcare system, and encountering barriers to seeking care. Relatedly, participants most frequently attributed their breast cancer to well-known social determinants of health, including food, neighborhood and physical environment, community and social context, and health and healthcare. Study findings underscore the importance of examining culturally-relevant factors that shape psychological responses and demonstrate how unique experiences of Black women may enhance understanding of poor physical health outcomes among Black women diagnosed with breast cancer. The dissertation of Yrvane Kassandra Pageot is approved.

Annette L. Stanton

Anna Shan-Lai Chung

Patrick Alan-David Wilson

Julienne E. Bower, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

Table of Contents

Title Page	i
Abstract	ii
List of Tables and Figures	viii
Introduction	1
Breast Cancer-Related Health Outcomes in Black Women	1
Emotional and Behavioral Health in Black Women with Breast Cancer	2
Use of Coping Strategies Among Black Women with Breast Cancer	6
Culturally-Relevant Factors: Identifying Potential Predictors of Coping and	
Mental and Behavioral Health Outcomes Among Black Individuals	12
Current Study	20
Method	23
Participants	23
Recruitment	23
Procedure	24
Measures	24
Power Analyses	30
Quantitative Data Analysis	30
Qualitative Data Analysis	32
Quantitative Results	32
Descriptives	32
Associations between Primary Outcomes	34
Associations between Predictors and Mediators	34

Examining Coping Strategies as Predictors of Distress and Sleep Disturbance	35
Associations between Contextual/Culturally-Relevant Factors, Distress, and	
Sleep Disturbance	35
Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial	
Discrimination and Distress and Sleep Disturbance	36
Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between	
Psychological Resilience and Distress and Sleep Disturbance	37
Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Strong	
Black Woman Traits and Distress and Sleep Disturbance	38
Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between John	
Henryism and Distress and Sleep Disturbance	39
Qualitative Results	40
Black Women Acknowledge That They are Neglecting Their Health	40
Identifying Breast Cancer-Related Illness Perceptions of Black Women	41
Discussion	44
Summary of Findings	44
Prevalence of Distress and Sleep Disturbance in Black Breast Cancer	
Survivors	45
Traditional Coping Strategies are Stronger Predictors of Emotional/Behavioral	
Health than Culturally-Relevant Coping Strategies	46
Culturally-Relevant Factors are Useful for Understanding Breast Cancer-related	
Health in Black Women	47

Traditional Coping Strategies Represent Significant Pathways to Elucidate	
Distress and Sleep Disturbance	50
Characterizing Experiences of Black women in the Context of Breast Cancer	51
Limitations and Future Directions	53
Conclusions	55
References	77

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Characteristics of Study Sample
Table 2. Summary of Health Symptoms and Psychological and Culturally-Relevant Factors58
Table 3. Bivariate Correlations Between Risk, Resilience, and Race-Related Factors
Table 4. Bivariate Correlations Traditional and Culturally-Relevant Coping Strategies60
Table 5. Associations Between Coping Strategies and Emotional/Behavioral Health
Symptoms61
Table 6. Associations between Risk, Resilience, and Culturally-Relevant Factors and
Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms63
Table 7. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination and
Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms64
Table 8. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Psychological Resilience
and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms65
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors and
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health SymptomsFigure 1. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health SymptomsFigure 1. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms68Figure 2. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Psychological Resilience
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health SymptomsFigure 1. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms68Figure 2. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Psychological Resilienceand Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms69
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health SymptomsFigure 1. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms68Figure 2. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Psychological Resilienceand Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms69Figure 3. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Strong Black WomanTraits and Emotional/Behavioral Health
Table 9. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Race-Related Factors andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms.Figure 1. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination andEmotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms.68Figure 2. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Psychological Resilienceand Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms.69Figure 3. Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Strong Black WomanTraits and Emotional/Behavioral HealthSymptoms.70

Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms	.71
Table 10. Strong Black Woman Schema: Acknowledging Ways of Neglecting Health	.72
Table 11. Illness Perceptions: Perceived Causes of Breast Cancer	.74
Exploratory Table 1. Bivariate Associations Between Strong Black Woman Schema Subscales	3
and Distress and Sleep Disturbance	.78

Yrvane Pageot Curriculum Vitae (abbreviated)

EDUCATION

2024	University of California, Los Angeles
	Doctoral Candidate in Psychology
	Major: Health Psychology
	Minor: Quantitative Psychology
2019	University of California, Los Angeles
	MA Psychology
2016	New York University, College of Arts and Sciences
	BA Psychology

HONORS, AWARDS & FELLOWSHIPS

2022	UCLA Rising to the Challenge Graduate Summer Research Fellowship
2021	PsychoNeuroImmunology Research Society: Michael Irwin Equity,
	Diversity and Diversity and Inclusion Award
2021	American Psychosocial Oncology Society Health Equity Scholar
2020	American Psychological Association Commission on Ethnic Minority
	Recruitment, Retention and Training in Psychology II Task Force Grant
2019	National Institutes of Mental Health T32 Predoctoral Fellowship
2019	Psychology Graduate Summer Mentorship Program Award
2019	Ford Foundation Fellowship Program
2018	UCLA Eugene V. Cota-Robles Fellowship
2018	UCLA Competitive Edge: Summer Transition Program to the Doctorate

PEER REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Denyse, T., Martin, K., Kim, J., Pageot, Y., Owoyemi, P., DeLuz, K., Stanton, A. (2023). "No Complaining, No Crying": A Qualitative Study of the Strong Black Woman Schema in the Breast Cancer Context. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*.

Martin, K., Denyse, T., Pageot, Y., Kim, J., Owoyemi, P., DeLuz, K., Stanton, A. (2023). "I'm Fighting for My Life": Exploring Interactions between Black Women with Breast Cancer and Healthcare Providers. *Qualitative Health Research*.

Pageot Y.P., Stanton, A.L., Ganz, P.A., Irwin, M.R., Cole, S.W., Crespi, C.M., Breen, E.C., Kuhlman, K.R., Bower, J.E. (2021). Socioeconomic Status and Inflammation in Women with Early-stage Breast Cancer: Mediation by Body Mass Index. *Brain Behavior and Immunity*.

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

Pageot, Y. (2023, March.) Identifying Potential Pathways Linking Socioeconomic Status & Accelerated Aging in Women Diagnosed with Early-stage Breast Cancer. Invited presentation for the Biobehavioral Influences on Accelerated Aging in Cancer Survivors at the American Psychosocial Oncology Society. San Juan, Puerto Rico.

Pageot, Y. (2022, March). Identifying Modifiable Psychosocial and Behavioral Targets to

Address Disparate Breast Cancer-Related Health Outcomes. Invited presentation for the American Psychosocial Oncology Society. Virtual Meeting.

Pageot, Y. (2021, January). Socioeconomic status and inflammation in women with earlystage breast cancer: mediation by body mass index. Invited presentation for the Health Psychology/Behavioral Medicine Seminar. University of California, Los Angeles. Los Angeles, CA, United States.

POSTER PRESENTATIONS

- Pageot, Y.K., Denyse, T., Owoyemi, P., Martin, K.J., DeLuz, D.K., Kim, J. H.J., Stanton, A. L. (2024, March). Socioeconomic status, John Henryism, and Sleep Disturbance in Black Women Diagnosed with Breast Cancer [Abstract accepted for Poster Presentation]. Society for Behavioral Medicine, 45th Annual Meeting, Philadelphia, PA.
- Owoyemi, P., Denyse, T., Pageot, Y. K., et al. (2024, March). Project SOAR (Speaking Our African American Realities): Spirituality as a Predictor of Posttraumatic Growth and Physical Symptoms among Black Breast Cancer Survivors [Abstract accepted for Poster Presentation]. American Psychosomatic Society, 81st Annual Scientific Meeting, Brighton, UK.
- Denyse, T., Martin, K.J., Pageot, Y.K., et al. (2023, August). A Qualitative Study of the Strong Black Woman Schema in the Breast Cancer Context. 2023 RISE for Equity: Reflect, Inspire, Strengthen & Empower Conference, Minneapolis, United States.
- Owoyemi, P., Denyse, T., Pageot, Y.K., et al. (2023, March). Project SOAR (Speaking Our African American Realities): Examining the role of spirituality among Black women in the breast cancer context. American Psychosomatic Society. San Juan, Puerto Rico.
- Denyse, T., Martin, K. J., Pageot, Y. K., deLuz, D., Kim, J. H. J., Owoyemi, P., & Stanton, A. L. (2021, December). Project SOAR: The Strong Black Woman schema in the breast cancer context. 2021 San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium, San Antonio, TX, United States.
- Pageot, Y., Stanton, A.L., Ganz, P.A., Irwin, M.R., Cole, S.W., Crespi, C.M., Bower, J.E. (2021, May). Socioeconomic status and inflammation in women with early-stage breast cancer: mediation by body mass index. PsychoNeuroImmunology Research Society, Virtual.
- Pageot, Y., Stanton, A.L., Ganz, P.A., Irwin, M.R., Cole, S.W., Crespi, C.M., Bower, J.E. (2021, March). Socioeconomic status and inflammation in women with early-stage Breast cancer: mediation by body mass index. American Psychosocial Oncology Society, Virtual.

Emotional and Behavioral Health Symptoms in Black Breast Cancer Survivors: Interpreting the Impact of Risk, Resilience, and Coping Using a Culturally-Relevant Approach

Breast Cancer-Related Health Outcomes in Black Women

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women across all races in the United States, accounting for 30% of new cancer cases each year (i.e., approximately 270,000 new cases each year)¹. Breast cancer is also the most common cancer among Black women in the US, accounting for 32% of new cancer cases each year (i.e., nearly 34,000 new cases each year)². Despite lower incidence rates among Black women (i.e., 407 per 100,000), relative to White women (i.e., 438.4 per 100,000), research findings reliably show that Black women have the worst breast cancer-related health outcomes, including cancer-related mortality. Indeed, the fiveyear survival rate for Black women with breast cancer is 78% whereas the five-year survival rate for all women is 90%³. To date, studies have primarily examined breast cancer-specific biological factors to understand race-related disparities in this clinical population. Study findings show that Black women, relative to White women, present with more aggressive breast cancer subtypes such as triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) which is characterized by invasive tumors that are negative for estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2). Importantly, patients with TNBC are not candidates for endocrine therapy or other treatments (e.g., Herceptin) which limits targeted therapeutic options⁴. Black women are also more likely to be diagnosed at a later stage⁴ and experience longer intervals between screening and follow-up appointments⁵ than White women. However, even when accounting for these differences in biological and clinical factors, health disparities remain. Empirical evidence has shown that in comparison to White women, Black women who present with more favorable breast cancer characteristics (e.g., early stage at diagnosis, hormone receptor

positive tumors) still exhibit higher risk for recurrence and lower survival rates⁶. Although biological and clinical characteristics are important determinants of breast cancer mortality, these findings demonstrate that there is a need for examination of additional factors that are relevant for breast cancer-related health outcomes.

To date, little attention has been paid to emotional and behavioral symptoms in Black breast cancer survivors, specifically, despite decades of work examining these health-related quality of life indicators in breast cancer survivors⁷. These outcomes (e.g., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and sleep problems) are important in their own right and may also be modifiable contributors to morbidity- and mortality-related health disparities in this population. In addition, there is a paucity of research that is focused on psychological predictors of these outcomes. Specifically, research that focuses on factors that are relevant to Black individuals and are known contributors to other race-related health disparities⁸ is limited. Therefore, the goal of this dissertation is to examine how general psychological and culturally-relevant factors may be associated with common emotional and behavioral symptoms in Black women with breast cancer. The results of this study will provide important information about emotional, psychological, and behavioral responses to the breast cancer experience in Black women. Importantly, these data may identify targets for culturally relevant interventions to improve breast cancer-related health outcomes for Black women specifically.

Emotional and Behavioral Health in Black Women with Breast Cancer

Emotional health: To better understand poor physical health outcomes (i.e., morbidity and mortality) among Black women diagnosed with breast cancer, it is important to examine indicators of emotional/mental health. In the breast cancer population, women report psychological problems throughout the cancer continuum, from diagnosis through treatment and

into survivorship⁹. Emotional responses are common after a breast cancer diagnosis, including anger, despair, helplessness, and fear of death⁹. Many women experience psychological distress, which includes feelings of worry, anxiety, depression, fear, and sadness^{10,11}, and is characterized as "an unpleasant experience of emotional, psychological, social, or spiritual nature that interferes with the ability to cope with cancer treatment"¹². Indeed, nearly 80% of cancer survivors report a fear of recurrence and approximately 60% of survivors report feelings of grief, identity issues, or emotional distress¹³. Mental health disorders are also prevalent in the breast cancer population; prevalence is 17-23% for anxiety¹⁴ and 20-30% for depression⁷.

Although prevalence of emotional issues is well-documented for the general breast cancer population, these data may not accurately reflect the prevalence of depression, anxiety, or psychological distress among Black women due to small samples of Black women in research studies^{15–17}, limitations in study designs^{15,17–22}, and omission of information about racial background of participants in published studies^{15,18,19,23}. Although limited, the literature shows that poor mental health is prevalent in Black women with breast cancer and more research is needed to elucidate risk. In one sample of Black women with breast cancer (n=82), 32% of participants had either borderline or clinically-significant levels of anxiety or depression ²⁴.

To date, most research studies compare mental health outcomes between Black and White women in healthy and clinical samples. Examination of racial differences in psychological well-being suggest that Black women in the breast cancer population demonstrate better indicators of mental health relative to White women which is surprising given that Black women are known to have worse breast cancer-related health outcomes than White women²⁵. This unexpected racial difference in mental health is known as the Black-White mental health paradox with previous studies showing that Black women have better mental health, including lower rates

of major depression^{26,27}, generalized anxiety disorder²⁷, social phobia, and substance use disorder than White women^{27,28} in healthy samples. Previous research shows that Black female breast cancer survivors have higher emotional well-being, positive growth^{18,21,29}, and lower levels of distress¹⁷ compared to White women. In one empirical study, including low-income women with breast or gynecological cancer, 5% of Black women (n=17) reported major depressive disorder relative to 12% of White women¹⁵. A recent study also showed that Black women reported less worry about noncancer-related and cancer-related health, although only 19% of the participants were Black women³⁰.

Although these studies show better emotional health outcomes in Black women relative to White women^{15,18,31}, these findings are not consistent. Studies comparing Black-White differences in mental health in the breast cancer population also show that Black women report worse symptoms than White women including findings that Black women reported more worry about knowing their personal breast density than White women³². Further, a recent longitudinal study showed that female Black breast cancer survivors had elevated levels of cancer-related distress 18 months post-treatment relative to White women³³. This study also showed that Black and White women did not differ in trajectories of depressive symptoms. An important limitation of this study was that there were 163 White participants and only 32 Black participants. Lower sample sizes of Black women relative to White women is a common limitation in studies that examine cancer-related psychological distress^{15,18}. This limitation, in addition to a small number of studies that focus on emotional health symptoms among Black women.

Interestingly, comparison studies show mixed findings about the severity of mental health problems in Black women relative to White women in non-cancer populations. Indeed, a

systematic review shows that Black women show lower depressive symptoms but higher levels of distress than White women³⁴, which suggests that the Black-White mental health paradox may not apply for all aspects of mental health. Of note, comparisons of mental health between these two racial groups of women may be overlooking important differences in experiences that shape mental health status throughout the breast cancer continuum. Further examination of mental distress is necessary to characterize how mental health in Black breast cancer survivors may be shaped by breast cancer-related and non disease-related factors. Black women with breast cancer require attention in the domain of mental health because they are less likely to seek out and receive mental health services³⁵ which may compound the effects of breast cancer-related psychological distress in this group of women. Characterizing emotional health symptoms among Black women in the context of breast cancer underlies opportunities to address health disparities by identifying specific targets to improve overall mental health.

Sleep: Another approach to understanding health disparities in the breast cancer population is to examine prevalent behavioral health problems which may adversely influence mental and physical domains of health and overall quality of life. In the breast cancer population, poor sleep quality is commonly reported and often co-occurs with depression and anxiety³⁶. Sleep quality is characterized by quantitative factors including duration, latency, and arousals, as well as subjective aspects including depth or restfulness³⁷. Studies that examine sleep disturbance among Black breast cancer survivors are limited with findings largely focused on links between sleep and breast cancer risk, prognosis, and mortality³⁸. More research is needed in the context of survivorship given that findings suggest that Black women with breast cancer report worse sleep quality than healthy Black women²² and that sleep disturbances are prevalent throughout the breast cancer continuum³⁹. In a sample of 637 Black breast cancer survivors, the

majority of participants reported sleep disturbances prior to diagnosis (57%), 10 months postdiagnosis (53%), and two years post-diagnosis (61%)³⁹. In multi-racial samples of breast cancer survivors that include Black women, 78% of participants reported sleep disturbances⁴⁰ and 43% of participants reported clinically significant problems with sleep⁴¹.

To date, evidence of emotional and behavioral health outcomes among Black women are alarmingly inconclusive and limited. To better characterize emotional and behavioral health outcomes among Black women, race-relevant factors that provide context about experiences with breast cancer should be investigated. Similarly, examination of culturally-shaped psychological responses to breast cancer is necessary. Currently, theoretical models do not provide sufficient information to adequately describe mental health outcomes in Black women with breast cancer. Although previous research highlights the need for inclusion of contextual factors in analyses to better understand which factors may be correlated with higher psychological distress in breast cancer patients⁴², few studies have investigated culturally-relevant contextual factors (e.g., racial discrimination) or psychological processes (e.g., culturally-relevant coping strategies)^{31,43} that may shape well-being among Black women in the breast cancer population.

Use of Coping Strategies Among Black Women with Breast Cancer

Breast cancer diagnosis and treatment are stressful experiences that can elicit a variety of psychological responses. Examination of these unique responses may be helpful in predicting symptoms within mental and behavioral domains of health. Coping is particularly relevant for breast cancer-related health outcomes given strong support for its links with health outcomes in this population⁴⁴. Among Black women, specifically, previous research suggests that unique coping strategies may be an important determinant of health outcomes⁴⁵. In addition, studies that focus on coping strategies used by Black women highlight unexpected links between coping and

health relative to White women. The sections below will review literature on traditional coping models and consider culturally-informed coping strategies that may be particularly relevant for Black female breast cancer survivors.

Coping with Breast Cancer: Traditional Models

Previous research shows that coping (i.e., processes utilized to manage the demands created by stressful events that are perceived as taxing or exceeding a person's resources⁴⁶), is associated with mental health outcomes in healthy and clinical populations^{47,48}. Theoretical models have conceptualized and categorized coping strategies in a variety of ways^{46,49}. According to the stress and coping theory by Lazarus and Folkman, individuals can exhibit responses to stressors that are problem-focused (i.e., aimed at resolving the stressful situation) or emotion-focused (i.e., aimed at alleviating event-related stress) in nature⁴⁶. Relatedly, a framework by Suls and Fletcher identifies approach- and avoidant-oriented coping strategies based on responses to stress⁵⁰. Previous research shows that approach-oriented coping strategies (e.g., positive reinterpretation) have been linked to better psychological and physical health while avoidant-oriented coping strategies (e.g., behavioral disengagement) have been associated with chronic disease progression and mortality in clinical populations⁴⁸. Further, findings from a systematic review of coping strategies in breast cancer samples showed that approach-oriented coping strategies were associated with better health outcomes, including health related quality of life. In contrast, avoidance-oriented coping strategies were associated with worse health outcomes such as intrusive thoughts and depressive symptoms⁵¹.

Investigation of unique coping strategies in the breast cancer context is particularly relevant for understanding racial differences in mental health outcomes generally because previous research suggests that Black women cope with breast cancer in distinct ways, relative to

women from other racial/ethnic groups⁵². For example, findings from a study of Black (n=442) and White (n=405) women with breast cancer showed that there were racial differences in coping⁵³. In this study, Black women were more likely to suppress emotions and engage in wishful thinking and positive reappraisal whereas White women were more likely to express emotions and engage in problem-solving and escapism. Further, emotional expression was associated with lower risk for mortality while emotional suppression was associated with higher risk for mortality among Black and White women⁵³. This study includes the largest sample of Black women in research focused on coping with breast cancer to date⁵⁴ and highlights a need for more research to elucidate racial differences in coping strategies that may underlie prevalent emotional and behavioral health outcomes.

The large literature on coping with breast cancer has used measures derived from prominent stress and coping models, including the COPE⁵⁵ and the Ways of Coping Questionnaire⁵⁶. However, previous research suggests that Black individuals report unique coping strategies that may not be adequately captured by these measures. These include religious coping and Africultural coping. Endorsement of these culturally-relevant responses among Black individuals suggests that traditional coping strategies (e.g., acceptance, denial) may not fully encapsulate the psychological processes used by Black women to respond to some stressors, including hardships associated with breast cancer. Importantly, research that examines use of these coping strategies in the context of breast cancer is limited. To address these limitations, both traditional *and* race-specific coping strategies should be examined to identify coping strategies that are most relevant for breast cancer-related health outcomes for Black women. Indeed, close examination of traditional and race-specific strategies will provide important

insight about coping strategies that are protective and detrimental for health outcomes in this group of women. Unique coping strategies used by Black individuals are considered below. *Religious Coping*

Religion is relevant for Black individuals, in general⁵⁷, and religious coping (i.e., use of religious beliefs or behaviors to prevent or mitigate negative, emotional consequences of stressful life circumstances⁵⁸) is particularly salient for Black women in the context of breast cancer. Indeed, Black women in the breast cancer population report religious coping more often than women from other racial/ethnic groups¹⁶. Religious coping can function in different ways including finding meaning, control, comfort/spirituality, intimacy/spirituality, and life transformation, and previous research shows that religious coping is operationalized in distinct ways. For example, some of the most endorsed coping strategies statements in a study of 17 Black women included "I pray for the pain to stop" and "I rely on faith in God"⁵². Qualitative research findings from a sample of Black female breast cancer survivors highlight the multifaceted role of religion in this subpopulation. Specifically, participants indicated that God provides constant protection, actively listens to requests, provides guidance, makes decisions about life and death, and provides strength during breast cancer ⁵⁹.

Examining the role of religion in the context of coping along the breast cancer continuum is critical for understanding this disease experience in Black women. For Black women who rely on religion to cope with breast cancer, a relationship with God provides a consistent and reliable source of support and comfort ^{60–64} and allows women to receive support from a community that shares similar beliefs ^{62,65}. Further, religious coping represents an important strategy for psychological adjustment and enhanced the ability to engage in treatment decisions, inner strength, and need for closeness in Black women⁶⁶. Religious coping also has important

implications for emotional health symptoms. Results from a longitudinal study showed that among women undergoing treatment for breast cancer, Black women had fewer depressive symptoms than Hispanic and non-Hispanic White women¹⁶. Although relationships between coping strategies and depressive symptoms were not analyzed, religious coping remained stable among Black women throughout the study period¹⁶. Findings from this study, in particular, highlight the importance of religion for Black women and suggest that further examination of this culturally-relevant coping strategy may be important for understanding emotional health symptoms in Black breast cancer survivors.

It is important to note that religious coping can have positive and negative associations with mental health outcomes. Indeed, positive religious coping patterns are typically related to more positive outcomes, and negative religious coping patterns are generally related to more negative outcomes⁶⁷. Negative religious coping (i.e., a pattern of coping that is characterized by spiritual discontent, beliefs that hardships reflect the punishment by God, interpersonal religious discontent, reappraisal of God's powers, and demonic reappraisal)⁶⁸ is associated with higher psychological distress, anxiety, and depression. Further, less use of negative religious coping is associated with greater total spiritual well-being⁵².

Africultural Coping

Previous studies indicate that Black individuals use some coping strategies that are distinct from widely used measures such as the COPE. Culturally-relevant coping strategies that are prevalent among Black individuals in response to stressful experiences comprise the Africultural Coping Systems Inventory (ACSI). This questionnaire was created to address a gap in the operationalization of coping styles that are relevant for Black individuals and is categorized into four subscales that underlie Black individuals' responses to stressful events:

Cognitive/Emotional Debriefing (i.e., adaptive responses to manage environmental stressors; "Tried to forget about the situation"), Spiritual-Centered Coping (i.e., responses to stressors based on individuals' connection with the spiritual elements with the universe or with a higher power; "Prayed that things would work themselves out"), Collective Coping (i.e., responding to stressors by relying on group-centered activities; "Got a group of family or friends together"), and Ritual-Centered Coping (i.e., responding to stressors by relying on the performance of rituals to acknowledge the role of ancestors in one's life, celebrating events, and paying homage to a higher power; "Lit a candle for strength or guidance in dealing with the problem")⁶⁹.

Only a few studies have utilized the ACSI to examine responses to race-related stressors and mental health outcomes among Black women. Previous research findings identified greater use of cognitive-emotional debriefing as a partial mediator of the relationship between elevated levels of gendered racism (i.e., racial discrimination due to Black race and female gender) and higher levels of psychological distress among Black women⁷⁰. In another sample of Black women, researchers observed inconsistent findings for associations between cognitive-emotional debriefing such that high levels of cognitive-emotional debriefing were associated with lower anxiety and depressive symptoms⁷¹. In this study, ritual coping was identified as a significant moderator of the effects of stress on mental health outcomes such that this coping strategy exacerbated the negative effects of race-related stress. Among individuals who reported high levels of ritual-centered coping, race-related stress was associated with worse anxiety symptoms⁷¹. These results suggest that distinct subgroups of race-related coping strategies may differentially influence the effects of race-related stress on mental health symptoms. However, less is known about the use of the ACSI and its impact on psychological and behavioral health symptoms relative to traditional coping strategies used by Black individuals, and particularly

Black women with breast cancer. Given that emotional and behavioral health outcomes are not well understood for Black women in the breast cancer population, it is necessary to investigate the extent to which culturally-relevant coping strategies may be helpful, harmful, or neutral for these domains of health.

Culturally-Relevant Factors: Identifying Potential Predictors of Coping and Mental and Behavioral Health Outcomes Among Black Individuals

Use of distinct coping strategies by Black women in response to breast cancer may be influenced by unique life experiences prior to breast cancer. Stress and coping theory suggests that appraisals of stressful events, including evaluation of threat and availability of coping resources, are important determinants of coping responses⁴⁶. This framework suggests that culturally-relevant contextual factors, which likely shape these appraisals, should also influence coping strategies. However, contextual factors have rarely been investigated as predictors of coping strategies used by Black women in the breast cancer population, which is problematic because omission of culturally-relevant factors limits opportunities to identify and address poor breast cancer-related health outcomes in this group of women. Indeed, there are "resilience", "risk", and race-relevant contextual factors that have been linked with health outcomes in previous research and may influence coping and emotional and behavioral health in Black breast cancer survivors.

Resilience Factors

In the context of breast cancer, there are a variety of psychological factors that may influence resilience among Black women, including hope and optimism. These intrapersonal resources have been identified as key coping resources in the broader literature⁴⁸ and may be particularly relevant for Black women in the context of breast cancer. Hope is defined as a set of

beliefs that reflect individuals' "agency" related to goals (i.e., determination in meeting goals) and pathways to these goals (i.e., sense of ability in meeting goals)⁷². Women who report high hope have shown distinct appraisals about breast cancer treatment relative to women who report low hope⁷³. Specifically, women with high hope reported that they would be able to utilize emotion-focused coping strategies. Hope has also been associated with positive reappraisals (i.e., an approach-oriented coping strategy) in a sample of female breast cancer survivors⁷⁴. Lastly, hope is associated with religion⁷⁵, a coping strategy that is prevalent among Black women.

A recent review highlighted optimism as an important predictor of resilience, coping, and better mental health outcomes (e.g., fewer anxiety symptoms)⁷⁶. Optimism (i.e., relatively stable, generalized expectations for the future⁷⁷) is associated with active coping (i.e., identifying solutions or alternative to address a stressor) in cancer populations⁷⁸, including breast cancer⁷⁹ and contributes to greater emotional well-being in cancer samples^{80,81}. Importantly, this construct underscores elements of strength and high-effort which are salient factors for culturally-relevant traits endorsed by Black individuals.

Risk factors

Racial discrimination (i.e., unfair treatment towards individuals and groups including actions towards and judgements/decisions about group members⁸²), negatively impacts individuals, environments, and systems. Racial discrimination underlies interpersonal interactions, access to resources, and governmental policies that shape future experiences, and empirical evidence shows that this chronic stressor can contribute to negative effects on mental⁸³ and physical health outcomes⁸⁴. Although this construct is often measured by individuals' everyday experiences of major events⁸⁵, the pervasiveness of this psychosocial stressor among

Black individuals highlights a need to examine the effects of racial discrimination on mental and physical health outcomes in vulnerable clinical populations.

Researchers have begun to examine links between racial discrimination and cancerrelated health outcomes for Black women. Results from the Black Women's Health Study showed that racial discrimination may increase risk for breast cancer incidence in Black women. In this study, breast cancer incidence was highest among women who reported multiple experiences with discrimination (i.e., housing, employment, and encounters with police) in comparison to individuals who reported zero experiences with discrimination⁸⁶. Importantly, these results underscore the need to investigate how exposure to race-related stressors prior to a breast cancer diagnosis can negatively impact breast cancer-related health outcomes.

One approach to understand associations between racial discrimination and breast cancerrelated health outcomes is to examine links with coping. In a sample of White and Black individuals with cancer, coping was identified as a mediator of the association between perceived discrimination and quality of life. Specifically, discrimination was associated with more disengagement coping, and this coping strategy was associated with lower quality of life⁸⁷. Although evidence of links between racial discrimination and coping are limited in the context of breast cancer, these findings suggest that this race-related stressor may be an important predictor of traditional and possibly culturally-relevant coping strategies used by Black women in the breast cancer population.

Given that racial discrimination is associated with breast cancer incidence, examination of links between racial discrimination and important psychological processes that are known contributors to mental and behavioral health outcomes will be critical. Indeed, there are various aspects of racial discrimination that individuals respond to, including the intensity and nature of

the threat, perceived intentions of perpetrator, potential consequences of the act and coping response, availability of resources to assist the target, and perceptions of the need to repeatedly utilize different coping resources and the appraisal of one's ability to do so^{88–91}. In the context of breast cancer, it is possible that Black women who report more racial discrimination may report unique coping strategies relative to women who have not experienced racial discrimination. For these women, in particular, negative emotions such as anger, sadness, nervousness, and hypervigilance may negatively influence overall well-being by contributing to negative psychological symptoms and unhealthy behaviors⁸⁴.

Race-relevant Factors: Strong Black Woman/Superwoman Schema

Applying a cultural lens to this research may elucidate the extent to which culturallyrelevant traits structure coping and emotional and behavioral health outcomes in Black breast cancer survivors. To date, empirical evidence shows that culturally-informed traits in Black individuals have been linked to physical health^{92,93}. However, evidence of associations with coping strategies and emotional and behavioral health symptoms that are known to shape overall health remain understudied.

The Strong Black Woman (SBW)/Superwoman Schema is a theoretical model that describes unique cognitive, affective, and behavioral characteristics of roles that are common among Black women⁹⁴. Black women who possess characteristics of this schema report an obligation to manifest strength, suppress emotions, resist vulnerability or dependence on others, determination to succeed despite limited resources, and prioritize the needs of others ^{94,95}. Data from qualitative interviews highlight important factors that shape this identity: a historical legacy of racial and gender stereotyping or oppression, lessons from foremothers, past personal history of disappointment, mistreatment, abuse, and spiritual values. Although these qualities were

nurtured from adverse experiences, there are positive and negative components of the schema. Benefits of the SBW characteristics include preservation of self and survival, preservation of the Black family, and preservation of the Black community. Conversely, SBW is also associated with strain in interpersonal relationships, engagement in stress-related health behaviors, and the embodiment of stress⁹⁴.

Numerous studies have highlighted the importance of the SBW schema in predicting mental health symptoms. Quantitative research findings show that the SBW schema is associated with higher levels of anxiety symptoms and depressive symptoms⁹². Further, associations between the SBW schema and negative mental health outcomes are explained by psychosocial constructs. In one study, self-silencing was identified as a mediator of the relationship between SBW schema and higher depressive symptoms⁹⁶. In another study, the SBW schema was independently associated with depression, anxiety, and loneliness in a sample of healthy Black women. Mediation analyses showed that maladaptive perfectionism (i.e., holding unrealistically high standards, perceived pressure from others to be perfect, being overly concerned with mistakes, and a perceived discrepancy between one's performance and personal standard) explained independent relationships between the SBW schema and higher depression and anxiety symptoms. In addition, self-compassion was a mediator of lower depression, anxiety, and loneliness while greater use of collective coping mediated the relationship between relatively low endorsement of the SBW schema and less loneliness⁹⁷. To date, SBW traits have not been linked to positive health outcomes in healthy samples. In the context of an uncontrollable stressor such breast cancer, however, various elements of strength in Black women that are posited to be beneficial for personal challenges⁹⁴ may be protective for mental health. More research is needed to determine whether SBW traits play a distinct role in this clinical population.

Although there is support for associations between SBW and poor mental health outcomes in healthy populations, evidence is limited for associations between SBW and breast cancer-related health outcomes. One qualitative study showed that women who reported high levels of SBW traits delayed preventive breast health (e.g., receiving a mammogram)⁹⁸. Aspects of the SBW schema (e.g., suppressing emotion) may also lead Black women to engage in unhealthy behaviors (e.g., sedentary behaviors, alcohol consumption) that are relevant for breast cancer⁹⁹ and may contribute to worse mental health outcomes in the context of breast cancer⁹⁸. Thus, examination of these culturally-relevant psychosocial qualities that are embedded in the SBW schema may be particularly useful for understanding how these traits shape coping strategies. Further investigation of cultural predictors of coping strategies may also be helpful in interpreting emotional and behavioral health outcomes among Black breast cancer survivors. *John Henryism*

Non-traditional responses to stress that have been endorsed by Black individuals may provide important insight about emotional health in Black women. Previous research shows that Black individuals commonly report John Henryism (JH), a "high-effort coping" style, including qualitative findings that highlight Black participants' belief that minority groups (e.g., Black individuals) must work hard to cope with everyday challenges¹⁰⁰. This is reflected in the folklore where John Henry, a tunnel worker who was known for his physical strength and endurance, beat a mechanical steam drill during a "steel-driving" contest. Shortly after his victory, he suddenly died as a result of physical and mental exhaustion ¹⁰¹. This folklore in addition to observational research were used to develop the JH hypothesis which states that use of high-effort active coping to overcome stressors predicts adverse health outcomes for Black individuals of low SES¹⁰².

To date, most research studies have investigated associations between JH and health outcomes in Black men and have generally found that high JH is associated with worse physical health outcomes (i.e., higher hypertension ¹⁰¹). Results from a systematic review of John Henryism examined 21 studies that used the 12-item JH scale, eight of which were conducted among women only ¹⁰³. In samples that included men *and* women, study findings showed gender differences in health outcomes such that high JH and low SES predicted worse health in men relative to women^{104–108}. Examination of JH among women, only, shows mixed findings such that high JH has been associated with lower blood pressure outcomes¹⁰⁹, flatter daily cortisol slopes, and lower perceived stress scores and depressive symptoms¹¹⁰. Inconclusive results regarding associations between JH and health^{111–114} suggests that the JH hypothesis is not fully supported when tested among women¹⁰³. It is possible that the lack of support for the JH hypothesis among women may be due to a paucity of research that examines associations between this coping style and health outcomes. Thus, future research can be instrumental in identifying which health outcomes are most relevant in the context of this coping style.

Although JH is posited to predict physical health outcomes, researchers have begun to examine associations between high-effort coping and emotional health in Black individuals more recently. A study including Black women showed that higher JH was associated with fewer depressive symptoms, controlling for demographic characteristics¹¹⁵. In clinical populations, high JH was associated with lower depressive symptoms¹¹⁶, lower distress and lower likelihood of having any mental disorder or substance use disorder¹¹⁷ which suggests that JH may be protective for emotional health outcomes in clinical populations. Thus, more research is needed to determine the relevance of this coping style for emotional health outcomes among Black breast cancer survivors.

To our knowledge, no studies have examined associations between JH and emotional and behavioral health outcomes in the breast cancer population. In addition, there is a paucity of research that investigates prevalence among Black women despite research showing that JH is relevant among Black women¹⁰³. Given that this hypothesis is based on mythical and empirical research involving men^{101,113,118}, it is possible that interpretation of this coping strategy may be limited for women. However, common themes embedded in JH and other traits endorsed by Black women warrant investigation in Black breast cancer survivors.

Illness Perceptions

In Black breast cancer survivors, health-related knowledge is an important factor to examine given that individuals' beliefs about illness and disease can be shaped by culture. Illness perceptions may underlie unique aspects of breast cancer such as perceived risk of disease, various treatment options, and survival. Illness perceptions are defined as the cognitive (i.e., beliefs, thoughts, ideas) and emotional (i.e., feelings) representations of symptoms and illness¹¹⁹. More specifically, illness perceptions represent interrelated beliefs about the cause of the illness, how long it will last, what the consequences of the illness are on the patient's life, the symptoms that go with the condition, and how the illness is controlled or cured¹²⁰. Results from a meta-analysis showed that positive illness perceptions were associated with better health outcomes (e.g., higher physical functioning, lower distress) whereas negative illness perceptions were associated with worse health outcomes (e.g., lower physical functioning, higher distress) ¹²¹. Previous research also shows that Black individuals report distinct illness perceptions relative to White individuals. For example, when asked about depression, Black individuals perceived depression to have less serious consequences, associated depression with fewer symptoms,

perceived depression to be less chronic and less amenable to treatment, and attributed depression to social factors more frequently¹²².

To understand how Black women perceive breast cancer and respond to stressors in this context, it is necessary to evaluate illness perceptions. Empirical evidence shows that there are shared beliefs about various components of this disease. Some cultural beliefs held by women in this population include that injury to the breast and toxins in the blood cause breast cancer, breast cancer is airborne, and breast cancer is a "White woman's disease"^{123–126}. Relatedly, data show that Black women also report many fears about breast cancer, including onset, treatment, and survival¹²⁵. This is important because these beliefs have been linked to underuse of preventive breast cancer health behaviors¹²⁷ such as mammography.

Previous research also shows that life experiences play a role in shaping illness perceptions among Black women. While comparing the experience of Black women with breast cancer, participants shared their perceptions about how America positions the needs of individuals with breast cancer. One participant postulated that if White men were a vulnerable group, research initiatives aimed to improve breast cancer-related health outcomes would be prioritized¹²⁸. However, there has only been one study that has administered an illness perception questionnaire among Black women with breast cancer. In this study, Black women were more likely to attribute breast cancer to immunity (i.e., caused by a germ or virus) relative to White women¹²⁹. Evidence of negative perceptions about breast cancer highlights a unique opportunity to address health-related knowledge about breast cancer which may promote improvements in health outcomes among Black breast cancer survivors.

Current Study

Although culturally-relevant traits and coping strategies in the context of emotional and behavioral health symptoms are particularly salient for Black women diagnosed with breast cancer, there is a paucity of research examining these relationships. The current study examined how the unique experiences of Black women and responses to stressors are linked to common breast cancer-related mental and behavioral health symptoms using a mixed-methods research design. Using quantitative data, the current study addressed these gaps in the literature by testing culturally-relevant risk and resilience factors and traditional and culturally-relevant coping strategies as predictors of distress and sleep disturbance (Figure 1). This study also tested coping as a mediating pathway linking culturally-relevant factors and health symptoms. Using qualitative data, this study characterized culturally-relevant experiences of Black women that are relevant for breast cancer.



Specific Aims and Hypotheses

Aim 1. Examine links between coping strategies and emotional/behavioral health in Black breast cancer survivors.

H1a: Traditional approach-oriented coping strategies and the spiritual-centered,

collective, and ritual-centered subscales of the Africultural coping inventory will be associated with lower levels of distress and less sleep disturbance.

<u>H1b:</u> Traditional avoidance-oriented coping strategies and the cognitive debriefing subscale of the Africultural coping inventory will be associated with higher levels of distress and greater sleep disturbance.

Aim 2. Evaluate associations between culturally-relevant contextual factors and emotional/behavioral health in Black breast cancer survivors.

<u>H2a:</u> Racial discrimination will be associated with higher levels of distress and greater sleep disturbance.

<u>H2b:</u> Psychological resilience factors (i.e., hope, optimism) will be associated with lower levels of distress and lower sleep disturbance.

<u>Exploratory H2c:</u> High SBW will be associated with lower levels of distress and greater sleep disturbance. SBW is comprised of traits that underlie resilience (e.g., self-efficacy) that may be beneficial for mental health⁹⁴ in the context of breast cancer. SBW is also comprised of traits that underlie vulnerability (e.g., stress-related health behaviors) that may be detrimental for behavioral health⁹⁴ in the context of breast cancer.

<u>Exploratory H2d:</u> High John Henryism will be associated with lower levels of distress and greater sleep disturbance given that previous research shows that John Henryism is linked to positive (e.g., lower depressive symptoms) and negative (e.g., flatter daily cortisol slopes) health symptoms in Black women¹¹⁰.

Aim 3. Investigate traditional and culturally-relevant coping strategies as mediators of the association between culturally-relevant contextual factors and emotional/behavioral health.

H3a: Associations between culturally-relevant contextual risk factors (i.e., racial

discrimination) and worse emotional/behavioral health symptoms (i.e., higher distress, greater sleep disturbance) will be mediated by lower levels of approach- oriented coping strategies and spiritual-centered, collective, and ritual-centered subscales of the

Africultural coping inventory. These associations will also be mediated by higher levels of avoidant-oriented coping strategies and cognitive debriefing.

H3b: Associations between culturally-relevant contextual resilience (i.e., hope, optimism) and better emotional/behavioral health symptoms (i.e., lower levels of distress, lower sleep disturbance) will be mediated by higher approach- oriented coping strategies and spiritual-centered, collective, and ritual-centered subscales of the Africultural coping inventory. These associations will also be mediated by lower avoidant-oriented coping strategies and strategies and cognitive debriefing.

Aim 4. Characterize participants' perceptions of neglected health and participants' perceived causes of disease to elucidate experiences of Black women in the context of breast cancer.

Method

Participants

Women who met the following inclusion criteria were eligible to participate in this study: self-identify as Black, at least 18 years of age, diagnosed with any stage of breast cancer within the past 10 years. These broad eligibility criteria were chosen to make the study inclusive for Black women in this clinical population.

Recruitment

Participants were recruited primarily through the University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA) Cancer Registry, a database of survivors who received a cancer diagnosis or
cancer-related treatment at UCLA. Contact information for 512 individuals who met the inclusion criteria were received from the registry, and these women were contacted via email with information about the study from May 2023 to February 2024.

Participants were also recruited by forming relationships with administrators of organizations that serve breast cancer patients and/or Black women. Organizations included Cancer Support Community, Foundation for Black Women's Wellness, Touch 4 Life, UCLA Simms/Mann, UCLA Health, My Sister My Friend Breast Cancer Support and an online breast cancer support group for women of color. Administrators shared the flyer with their networks, on social media, and in newsletters.

Procedure

Participants completed an on-line screening instrument to determine eligibility and confirm interest in the study. Eligible and interested participants provided consent and completed an online questionnaire administered through Qualtrics. The questionnaire included information on demographic and disease-related characteristics as well as measures of coping, contextual factors, and emotional and behavioral health outcomes, focusing on measures that have been validated for use in women with breast cancer. Participants were asked to provide their email address at the end of the survey and were sent a \$25 Amazon gift card as compensation.

Measures

Breast Cancer Characteristics. Participants self-reported age at diagnosis, breast cancer stage at diagnosis, adjuvant treatment (i.e., radiation, chemotherapy, endocrine therapy, trastuzumab), and the type of surgery received (i.e., lumpectomy, mastectomy).

Sociodemographic Factors. Participants self-reported their current age, marital status, highest

level of educational attainment and annual household income, two key components of SES¹³⁰. Participants also reported net worth based on previous research showing that this indicator of SES is an important predictor of health in Black individuals¹³¹.

Outcome Variables: Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms

Depressive Symptoms. Participants reported depressive symptomatology during the past week using the 20-item version of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D)¹³². Items include: "I felt depressed" and "I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me". Participants responded to each item on a 1 (Rarely or none of the time) to 4 (Most or all of the time) scale. The CES-D was identified as useful in measuring psychosocial functioning in Black women with cancer¹³³.

Anxiety Symptoms. Participants reported symptoms of anxiety using the 7-item (GAD-7)¹³⁴ during the past two weeks. Items include: "Feeling nervous, anxious, or on edge", Trouble relaxing". Participants responded to each item using a 4-point scale ranging from 0 (Not at all) to 3 (Nearly every day). Scores range from 0 to 21. Scores in the 0-4 range indicate no or low anxiety, scores in the 5–9 range represent mild anxiety, scores in the 10–14 range represent moderate anxiety, and scores greater than 15 represent severe anxiety symptoms. GAD-7 has been previously administered in a sample of women with breast cancer¹³⁵.

Distress Composite. Distress was operationalized as a composite score, including anxiety and depressive symptoms, as consistent with previous research²⁴. The distress composite variable was created by standardizing the CES-D and GAD-7 questionnaires and summing scores. Depressive symptoms were significantly correlated with anxiety symptoms (r=0.69, p<0.001)

Sleep Disturbance. Participants self-reported sleep disturbance during the past seven days using the 8-item PROMIS Sleep Short Form¹³⁶. Example items include: "In the past seven days, my sleep was restless" and "In the past seven days, I got enough sleep". Participants responded to each item using a 5-point scale from 1 (Not at all) to 5 (Very much). T-scores were calculated from raw scores using validated protocols. A score of 50 represents the mean of the general population and scores above the mean indicate worse sleep disturbance. Scores below 45 indicate sleep disturbance within normal limits, scores between 45 and 55 indicate mild sleep disturbance, scores between 55 and 60 indicate moderate sleep disturbance, and scores greater than 60 indicate severe sleep disturbance¹³⁷.

Predictor Variables: Contextual Resilience Factors

Optimism. Participants responded to a valid and reliable measure of dispositional optimism by completing the Life Orientation Test-Revised (LOT-R)¹³⁸. Example items include: "In uncertain times, I usually expect the best" and "I'm always optimistic about my future". Participants responded to six items using a 5-point scale ranging from 0 (I agree a lot) to 4 (I disagree a lot), and higher scores indicate greater dispositional optimism.

Hope. Participants reported their levels of hope using the Adult Hope Scale¹³⁹. This 12item questionnaire contains two subscales: (1) Agency (i.e., goal-directed energy) and (2) Pathways (i.e., planning to accomplish goals). Items include: "I energetically pursue my goals" and "My past experiences have prepared me well for my future". Participants responded to each item using an 8-point scale ranging from 1 (Definitely False) to 8 (Definitely True).

Psychological Resilience Composite. Psychological resilience was operationalized as a composite score, including optimism and hope, as consistent with previous research¹⁴⁰. The

psychological resilience variable was created by standardizing scores from the Adult Hope Scale and the Life Orientation Test-Revised questionnaire and summing scores. In this sample, optimism was significantly correlated with hope (r=0.27, p=0.01) as previously shown in a sample of women diagnosed with advanced breast cancer¹⁴¹.

Predictor Variables: Culturally-Relevant Traits

Racial Discrimination. Participants reported experiences of racial discrimination during the past year using the Everyday Discrimination Scale (EDS)¹⁴². The EDS is one of the most widely used measures for perceived discrimination and captures aspects of interpersonal discrimination that are chronic or episodic but generally minor¹⁴³. Items include: "You received poorer service than other people at restaurants or stores." Participants responded to each item using a 6-point scale ranging from 1 (Never) to 6 (Almost everyday). A total possible range of the original EDS is 1 to 54, with higher scores indicating higher levels of perceived racial discrimination. *Giscombe Superwoman Schema Scale.* Participants completed the Giscombe Superwoman

Schema Questionnaire¹⁴⁴ to report the extent to which they identify with culturally-relevant racial and gender identity characteristics that comprise the Superwoman Schema construct. The five subscales include: 1) obligation to present an image of strength (e.g., "I have to be strong"); 2) obligation to suppress emotions (e.g., "Expressing emotions is difficult for me"); 3) resistance to being vulnerable (e.g., "I wait until I am overwhelmed to ask for help"); 4) intense motivation to succeed (e.g., "I put pressure on myself to achieve a certain level of accomplishment"); and 5) obligation to help others (e.g., "I take on too many responsibilities in my family"). One item in this measure asks participants to report whether they neglect their health. Participants who indicated that they neglect their health were asked to report the specific ways in which they neglect their health in an open-response question.

Illness Perceptions. Participants reported illness perceptions about breast cancer using the Brief Illness Perception Questionnaire (IPQ)¹⁴⁵. This questionnaire examines cognitive illness representations (i.e., consequences, timeline, personal control, treatment control, and identity), emotional representations (i.e., concern, emotions), and illness comprehensibility. Sample items include "How much does your illness affect your life?" and "How long do you think your illness will continue?". Participants responded to each item, except the causal question, using a 0 to 10 scale, and higher scores indicate stronger perceptions along that dimension. Participants also ranked the three most important causes of their illness in an open-response question. John Henry Active Coping Scale. Participants completed the 12-Item John Henryism Active Coping Scale (JHAC-12)¹⁰² to identify culturally-relevant responses to stressors. Example items include: "When things don't go the way I want them to, that just makes me work even harder" and "Once I make up my mind to do something, I stay with it until the job is completely done". Participants responded to all items using a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (Completely false) to 5 (Completely true). The JHAC-12 has been psychometrically validated in African American populations and has demonstrated high reliability, with reported Cronbach's alpha ranging from 0.61 to 0.80¹⁴⁶.

Mediators: Traditional and Culturally-Relevant Coping Strategies

COPE. Participants completed the 60-item COPE⁵⁵, including the Emotional Approach Coping Scales to indicate general responses to stress¹⁴⁷. This scale assesses the following approachoriented coping strategies: Acceptance (e.g., "I accept the reality of the fact that it happened"), Problem-Focused Coping (Active Coping and Planning subscales – e.g., "I make a plan of action"), Seeking Social Support (Seeking Social Support for Instrumental Reasons and Seeking Social Support for Emotional Reasons subscales; e.g., "I get emotional support from others"),

Positive Reappraisal (e.g., "I learn something from the experience"), and Emotional Approach (Emotional Processing and Emotional Expression subscales – e.g., "I take time to figure out what I'm really feeling" and "I take time to express my emotions"). Participants responded to all items using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (I don't do this at all) to 4 (I do this a lot). Scores from each subscale were standardized, summed, and averaged to create a composite score. Cronbach's alpha for the approach composite was 0.81.

The COPE also assesses avoidance-oriented coping strategies: Mental Disengagement (e.g., "I go to movies or watch TV to think about it less"), Behavioral Disengagement (e.g., "I admit to myself that I can't deal with it and quit trying"), and Denial subscales (e.g., "I say to myself this isn't real"). Participants responded to all items using a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (I don't do this at all) to 4 (I do this a lot). Scores from each subscale were standardized, summed, and averaged to create a composite score. Cronbach's alpha for the avoidant composite was 0.73.

Africultural Coping Systems Inventory (ACSI). Participants completed the ACSI to report culture-specific coping strategies in response to stressful situations. This 30-item questionnaire uses a 4-point Likert-type scale 0 (Did not use) to 3 (Used a great deal). Participants rated the extent to which they used certain Africultural coping strategies to deal with a stressful situation. The ACSI includes four coping subscales: Cognitive/Emotional Debriefing (e.g., "Hope that things would get better"), Spiritual-Centered (e.g., "Prayed that things would work themselves out"), Collective (e.g., "Sought emotional support from family and friends"), and Ritual-Centered (e.g., "Lit a candle for strength or guidance in dealing with the problem"). Scores were summed to compute a total score for each subscale and the ACSI total score.

Cronbach's alphas of .77, .85, .74, and .81 were identified for the Cognitive/Emotional Debriefing, Spiritual-Centered, Collective, and Ritual-Centered Coping subscales, respectively. **Power Analyses**

For Aims 1 and 2, power analyses for linear multiple regression showed that n=395 would provide 80% power to detect main effects with a small effect size (Cohen's $f^2 = 0.02$), n=101 would provide 80% power to detect effects with a small – medium effect size (Cohen's $f^2 = .08$), and n=55 would provide 80% power to detect main effects with a medium effect size based on a model with one predictor and two covariates. Based on these analyses, this study is powered to detect small to medium effects. Of note, a small effect is equivalent to a Cohen's d of 0.2, a medium effect (Cohen's $f^2 = 0.15$) is equivalent to a Cohen's d of 0.5, and a large effect (Cohen's $f^2 = 0.35$) is equivalent to a Cohen's d of 0.80. For Aim 3, power analyses for single mediation showed that N=103 would provide 80% power to detect medium effects of coping strategies as mediators of the associations between contextual and culturally-relevant factors and distress and sleep disturbance. G*Power was used to conduct power analyses for Aims 1 and 2, and the Monte Carlo Power Analysis for Indirect Effects¹⁴⁸ was used to conduct power analyses for Aim 3.

Few studies have examined these outcomes in Black women, with only study reporting a posthoc effect size in a sample of Black breast cancer survivors¹⁴⁹. Thus, analyses will not control for multiple comparisons. In addition, composite scores will be used to limit the number of predictor variables and associated analyses. To determine the variance explained in each outcome by each predictor, R^2 was provided for each model.

Quantitative Data Analysis

Linear regression models tested hypotheses related to Aim 1 by examining associations between coping strategies and each emotional/behavioral health outcome (i.e., distress, sleep disturbance). Linear regression models tested hypotheses related to Aim 2 by examining associations between culturally-relevant factors and each emotional/behavioral health outcome (i.e., distress, sleep disturbance). Age¹⁵⁰ and years since diagnosis¹⁵¹ were included in all analyses as covariates given that these factors are known to be associated with breast cancerrelated quality of life¹⁵². Models did not control for disease-related factors (i.e., treatment type, surgery, current or previous treatment) based on previous research¹⁵³ and nonsignificant associations with the outcome variables in this sample.

To evaluate Aim 3, the IBM SPSS PROCESS macro was used to test mediation. For Hypothesis 3a, indirect effects of 1) traditional approach-oriented coping strategies were tested as a mediator of culturally-relevant factors and emotional/behavioral health symptoms in separate models. For Hypothesis 3b, indirect effects of traditional avoidant-oriented coping strategies were tested as a mediator of the culturally-relevant factors and emotional/behavioral health symptoms in separate models. Estimates were generated for each path: 1) the total effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable (c path); 2) the direct effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable when the mediator is included in the model (c' path); 3) the effect of the independent variable on the mediator (a path); 4) the effect of the mediator on the dependent variable (b path); and 5) the indirect effect of the mediator on the association between the Independent and dependent variables (ab path). Path estimates, standard errors, and 95% bias-corrected bootstrap confidence intervals (10,000 random samples) were estimated for each model. Of note, mediation was only tested for coping strategies that showed significant associations with the outcome variables in linear regression models.

Qualitative Data Analysis

Open-ended responses from the Superwoman Schema Scale (i.e., "In what specific ways do you think that you neglect your health?") and the Brief Illness Perceptions Questionnaire (i.e., "Please list the three most important factors that you believe caused your breast cancer") were analyzed using reflexive thematic analysis¹⁵⁴. This approach is used to identify, analyze, and report themes within qualitative data. In the current study, this analysis was utilized to examine participants' acknowledgement of health neglect and perceived causes of breast cancer.

A well-established process¹⁵⁴ was used to analyze and report themes within the data. The principal investigator of the study first reviewed the data to generate a list of codes. Codes represent researchers' interpretations of meaning within a dataset¹⁵⁵. Both latent (i.e., labeling data based on underlying meaning of participants' responses) and semantic codes (i.e., labeling data based on what is explicitly stated by participants) were identified based on participants' responses. Next, codes were grouped into categories based on similarities¹⁵⁶ and categories were clustered into themes. Lastly, the principal investigator provided a definition for each theme to provide a thorough description of the data. Given that participants provided short responses that did not require multiple interpretations, one coder (i.e., principal investigator) was sufficient to derive meaning from the data and did not require a consensus¹⁵⁵. Indeed, the most valuable features of reflexive thematic analysis include reflective and thoughtful engagement with the data and reflexive and thoughtful engagement with the analytic process rather than 'accurate' and 'reliable' coding, or achieving consensus between coders¹⁵⁷.

Quantitative Results

Descriptives

151 women who completed the screening questions (i.e., race, age, undergoing treatment, breast cancer status, metastatic breast cancer), were eligible to participate in the study, and provided consent to complete the online survey. 138 participants started the survey and completed at least one subscale. Sample size for the main study measures ranged from 102 to 136 due to drop-off. 100 women provided demographic information. Women were recruited from the UCLA Tumor Registry (n=72) or external organizations (n=28). Characteristics of the sample are provided in Table 1. The mean age of participants in this sample was 56.6 years and nearly 45% of women were married. On average, women had obtained a college degree and more than half of women in the sample reported an annual household income greater than \$90,000.

Breast cancer characteristics were self-reported by participants. Most women were diagnosed with Stage I or II at diagnosis, received a lumpectomy, received radiation therapy, and were diagnosed with breast cancer within the past four years on average. Approximately 34% of the sample were currently receiving treatment and 60% of the sample previously received treatment.

Average scores for predictors, mediators, and outcomes are described in Table 2. On average, participants scored above the standardized mean (i.e., M=50)¹⁵⁸ on the PROMIS sleep disturbance scale (M=52.34), indicating mild levels of sleep disturbance¹³⁷. Nearly 57% of women reported sleep disturbance within normal limits and 20% reported mild sleep disturbance. In the context of emotional health symptoms, the average score for the GAD-7 indicated minimal anxiety (M=4.70), reported by nearly 62% of the sample. On average, participants reported scores on the CES-D that reflect risk for clinical depression (M=18.69) with more than half of the sample (52.8%) reporting scores that exceed the clinical cut-off for clinical depression.

On average, participants reported higher levels of hope (M=70.80) than healthy Black individuals in previous research¹⁵⁹. Participants also reported higher scores for Strong Black Woman qualities (M=65.44) relative to healthy Black women¹⁶⁰. Participants reported lower scores for John Henryism (M=36.35) relative to healthy Black women^{109,113,115,161}. The average level of optimism (M=17.54) was lower than levels reported by Black women¹⁶² but similar to optimism scores in a multiracial sample of women with breast cancer¹⁶³ and a sample of White breast cancer survivors¹⁶⁴. In addition, participants reported high levels of COPE approachoriented (M=3.06) such that they reported utilizing these strategies "a medium amount" on average. In contrast, participants reported lower scores for COPE avoidant-oriented coping strategies (M=1.81) such that they reported utilizing these strategies "a little bit" or "not at all" on average. For culturally-relevant coping strategies, participants reported lower scores on the cognitive debriefing subscale (M=0.96), spiritual coping (M=1.17), collective coping (M=1.23), and ritual coping (M=0.36) subscales relative to healthy Black women¹⁶⁵. Thus, participants utilized each coping strategy "a little" on average.

Associations between Outcome Variables

Emotional and behavioral health symptoms were positively correlated in this sample. Depressive symptoms were significantly associated with anxiety symptoms (r=0.69, p<0.001) and sleep disturbance (r=0.51, p<0.001). Anxiety symptoms were significantly associated with sleep disturbance (r=0.50, p<0.001).

Associations between Predictors and Mediators

Correlations between risk, resilience, and race-related factors are shown in Table 3. Racial discrimination, psychological resilience, and Strong Black Woman qualities were significantly correlated with each other. John Henryism was not significantly correlated with the other variables.

Correlations between coping strategies are shown in Table 4. Each of the ACSI subscales were positively correlated and associations were statistically significant. In addition, ACSI subscales showed statistically significant correlations with COPE Approach and Avoidant composite scores. The COPE Approach composite was not significantly associated with the Avoidant composite.

Examining Coping Strategies as Predictors of Distress and Sleep Disturbance

Adjusting for covariates, traditional coping strategies were significantly associated with distress and sleep disturbance, consistent with hypotheses (Table 5). Greater use of approach-oriented strategies was significantly associated with lower levels of distress (b=-7.00, p=0.003), accounting for nearly 20% of the variance. Greater use of approach-oriented strategies was also significantly associated with less sleep disturbance (b=-6.91, p<0.001), accounting for nearly 16% of the variance. In contrast, greater use of avoidant-oriented coping strategies was significantly associated with higher levels of distress (b=11.82, p<0.001), accounting for nearly 32% of the variance. Greater use of avoidant-oriented coping strategies was significantly associated with higher levels of distress (b=11.82, p<0.001), accounting for nearly 32% of the variance. Greater use of avoidant-oriented coping strategies was significantly associated with more sleep disturbance (b=4.24, p=0.03), accounting for 6.5% of the variance.

Adjusting for covariates, culturally-relevant coping strategies (i.e., ACSI) were not significantly associated with distress or sleep disturbance (Table 5). Thus, culturally-relevant coping strategies were not tested as mediators in subsequent models.

Associations between Contextual/Culturally-Relevant Factors, Distress, and Sleep Disturbance

Psychological Resilience: Adjusting for covariates, psychological resilience was

significantly associated with distress and sleep disturbance (Table 6). As predicted, higher levels of psychological resilience were associated with lower levels of distress (b=-0.65, p<0.001), accounting for 10% of the variance. Similarly, higher levels of psychological resilience were associated with less sleep disturbance (b=-0.30, p=0.01), accounting for 31% of the variance.

Racial Discrimination: Adjusting for covariates, racial discrimination was significantly associated with distress and sleep disturbance (Table 6). Higher levels of racial discrimination were significantly associated with distress (b=0.55, p<0.001), accounting for 24% of the variance. Similarly, higher levels of racial discrimination were significantly associated with more sleep disturbance (b=0.29, p=0.01), accounting for 12% of the variance.

Culturally-Relevant Factors: Contrary to hypotheses, higher endorsement of Strong Black Woman Schema qualities was associated with higher levels of distress (b=0.31, p<0.001), accounting for 29% of the variance. Higher endorsement of Strong Black Woman Schema qualities was also significantly associated with more sleep disturbance (b=0.15, p=0.01), accounting for 13% of the variance. John Henryism was not significantly associated with distress or sleep disturbance.

Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Racial Discrimination and Distress and Sleep Disturbance

Distress: Higher levels of racial discrimination were significantly associated with lower scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 7). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were marginally associated with lower levels of distress (b path). The mediated effect of racial discrimination on distress through the COPE Approach composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Higher levels of racial discrimination were significantly associated with higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 7). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were significantly associated with higher levels of distress (b path). The mediated effect of racial discrimination on distress through the COPE Avoidant composite was significant (ab path), indicating that avoidant-oriented coping strategies mediated the association between racial discrimination and distress.

Sleep Disturbance: Higher levels of racial discrimination were significantly associated with lower scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 7). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were associated with lower sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of racial discrimination on sleep disturbance through the COPE Approach composite was significant (ab path), indicating that approach-oriented coping strategies mediated the association between racial discrimination and sleep disturbance.

Higher levels of racial discrimination were significantly associated with higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 7). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were not significantly associated with sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of racial discrimination on sleep disturbance through the COPE Avoidant composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Psychological Resilience and Distress and Sleep Disturbance

Distress: Higher levels of psychological resilience were significantly associated with higher scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 8). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were marginally associated with lower distress (b path). The mediated

effect of racial discrimination on distress through the COPE Approach composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Higher levels of psychological resilience were significantly associated with lower scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 8). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were significantly associated with higher distress (b path). The mediated effect of psychological resilience on distress through the COPE Avoidant composite was significant (ab path), indicating that avoidant-oriented coping strategies mediated the association between psychological resilience and distress.

Sleep disturbance: Higher levels of psychological resilience were associated with higher scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 8). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were significantly associated with lower sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of psychological resilience on sleep disturbance through the COPE Approach composite was significant (ab path), indicating that approach-oriented coping strategies mediated the association between psychological resilience and sleep disturbance.

Higher levels of psychological resilience were associated with lower scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 8). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were not significantly associated with sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of racial discrimination on sleep disturbance through the COPE Avoidant composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between Strong Black Woman Traits and Distress and Sleep Disturbance

Distress: Higher endorsement of Strong Black Woman qualities was significantly associated with lower scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 9). Scores on the

COPE Approach composite were not significantly associated with distress scores (b path). The mediated effect of Strong Black Woman qualities on distress through the COPE Approach composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Higher endorsement of Strong Black Woman qualities was significantly associated with higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were significantly associated with higher levels of distress (b path). The mediated effect of Strong Black Woman qualities on distress through the COPE Avoidant composite was significant (ab path), indicating that avoidant-oriented coping strategies mediated the association between Strong Black Woman qualities and distress.

Sleep Disturbance: Higher endorsement of Strong Black Woman qualities was significantly associated with lower scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were significantly associated with less sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of Strong Black Woman qualities on distress through the COPE Approach composite was significant (ab path), indicating that use of approachoriented coping strategies mediated the association between Strong Black Woman qualities and sleep disturbance.

Higher endorsement of Strong Black Woman qualities was significantly associated with higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were not significantly associated with sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of Strong Black Woman qualities on sleep disturbance through the COPE Avoidant composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Traditional Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations Between John Henryism and Distress and Sleep Disturbance

Distress: Higher John Henryism scores were not significantly associated with scores on the COPE Approach composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were significantly associated with lower levels of distress (b path). The mediated effect of John Henryism on distress through the COPE Approach composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Higher John Henryism scores were not significantly associated with scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were not significantly associated with distress (b path). The mediated effect of John Henryism on distress through the COPE Avoidant composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Sleep Disturbance: Higher John Henryism scores were not significantly associated with scores on the COPE Approach -composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Approach composite were significantly associated with less sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of John Henryism on sleep disturbance through the COPE Approach composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Higher John Henryism scores was not significantly associated with scores on the COPE Avoidant composite (a path) (Table 9). Higher scores on the COPE Avoidant composite were not significantly associated with sleep disturbance (b path). The mediated effect of John Henryism on sleep disturbance through the COPE Avoidant composite was nonsignificant (ab path).

Qualitative Results

Black Women Acknowledge That They are Neglecting Their Health

83 participants reported that they neglect their health on the SBW scale and 82 participants described ways in which they neglected their health in an open-response. Three themes were identified based on their responses:

<u>Theme 1 – Behaviors that increase risk for poor health:</u> Participants described health behaviors and lifestyle choices that are known to increase risk for poor health. Specifically, participants noted that they engaged in behaviors that are known to exacerbate poor health, including sedentary behaviors, smoking, and unhealthy eating and drinking habits. Similarly, participants failed to engage in behaviors that are known to promote good health such as rest, self-care, and maintaining good health habits.

<u>Theme 2 – Underutilization of the healthcare system:</u> Participants noted that they neglected their health by engaging with the healthcare system inconsistently. Some participants described irregular interactions with the healthcare system which were characterized by not seeking medical care, delaying medical care, not reporting health symptoms to physicians, and ignoring health symptoms with the hopes of improvement.

Participants also noted that other obligations led them to de-prioritize their health needs. Specifically, participants made healthcare-related appointments for others before themselves, prioritized the health of others over themselves, refrained from exercising in order to do things for family members, and were occupied by other responsibilities such as work.

<u>Theme 3 – Barriers to seeking health care:</u> Participants indicated that psychological factors and socioeconomic status shaped the ways in which they neglected their health. Psychological factors such as depression hindered participants from taking care of their health. In addition, a lack of monetary resources was identified as a social determinant of health that prevented participants from seeking health care.

Identifying Breast Cancer-Related Illness Perceptions of Black Women

82 participants reported perceived causes for their breast cancer diagnosis on the Illness Perceptions Questionnaire. Analysis of the data highlighted commonalities between participants'

responses and well-established social determinants of health. Thus, responses were grouped into the categories from the social determinants of health model¹⁶⁶: economic stability (n=3), neighborhood and the physical environment (n=37), food (n=42), community and social context (n=35), and health and health care (n=83). Participants reported factors that are known to be associated with poor health such as sociodemographic factors (n=9), exposure to toxins (n=3), unknown/higher power (n=26), and lifestyle (n=6). Codes that comprise each category are described in Table 10. In addition, codes were also categorized into individual-, structural-, and/or social-level factors based on their responses.

<u>Economic stability</u>: Some participants perceived their occupation as a cause of their breast cancer. Some participants indicated that work, in general, caused their disease while others described how contextual factors such as type of occupation contributed to their disease. <u>Neighborhood and physical environment</u>: Some participants broadly reported environmental factors as a cause of their breast cancer. Additionally, participants reported aspects of health behaviors that may be related to limitations of their neighborhood and built environment, including a lack of exercise, as a cause of their breast cancer diagnosis. This may be due to a lack of neighborhood infrastructure to support exercise such as sidewalks, parks, and recreation centers as previously described in research studies¹⁶⁷.

<u>Food</u>: Some participants perceived their dietary habits as a cause of their disease. Consumption of unhealthy food and beverage products, and relatedly being overweight, were named as causes of breast cancer. Additionally, participants indicated that poor food quality (i.e., food additives and genetically modified organisms in food) was an important cause of their disease. Further, consumption of alcohol and low water intake were named as causes of their disease. <u>Community and social context:</u> Participants indicated that elements of their community and social context caused their disease. Participants believed that stress, negative experiences with family members (e.g., divorce), Black race, and racism were linked to their breast cancer diagnosis.

<u>Health and Healthcare:</u> Participants indicated that various, personal health conditions caused their disease. Specifically, prolonged health issues, fibroids, dense breast tissue, and constipation were named as causes of their breast cancer diagnosis. Additionally, participants named biological factors and hormones as causes of their disease. Participants also identified history of family health as causes of breast cancer. Genetics, heredity, inherited condition, and ancestry were named as causes of their disease.

Participants indicated that interactions with the healthcare system caused their disease. Specifically, being treated poorly due to being Black, receipt of surgery, and vaccines were identified as causes of breast cancer. Participants also indicated that their lack of interactions with the healthcare system caused their disease. Specifically, medical negligence, missing a mammogram, and not utilizing health services were perceived as causes of their breast cancer. Participants reported that their mental health status caused their disease. Specifically, factors such as mindset, lack of meditation, depression, unexpressed emotion, and emotions were named as important contributors to their breast cancer diagnosis.

<u>Sociodemographic factors:</u> Participants indicated that sociodemographic factors caused their disease. Specifically, participants indicated that being older and female were linked to their disease.

Exposure to toxins: Participants indicated that exposure to various toxins caused their disease. Participants reported behaviors such as smoking and hair chemicals were linked to breast cancer.

Participants also reported that hair chemicals, which are commonly found in hair relaxers among Black women, were a cause of their breast cancer.

<u>Chance:</u> Participants indicated that their disease was caused by factors beyond their control. Participants named God, dumb luck, life, body randomness, chance, life lesson, and fate as reasons for their breast cancer diagnosis.

Lifestyle: Participants reported that their lifestyle caused their disease.

Discussion

Summary of Findings

Results from this mixed-methods study demonstrate that examining traditional and culturally-relevant factors elucidate risk for breast cancer-related emotional and behavioral health outcomes in Black women. As hypothesized, psychological resilience (i.e., optimism, hope) was significantly associated with lower levels of distress and less sleep disturbance. In addition, race-related factors (i.e., racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities) were associated with higher levels of distress and more sleep disturbance. Mediation analyses showed that approach-oriented coping strategies significantly mediated effects of psychological resilience and race-related factors on sleep disturbance, and avoidant-oriented coping strategies significantly mediated effects of on distress. Contrary to hypotheses, John Henryism was not significantly associated with these study outcomes. Importantly, these findings demonstrate that in addition to well-known predictors of health, Black women have distinct experiences and intrapersonal qualities that are relevant for elucidating distress and sleep disturbance in the aftermath of a breast cancer diagnosis.

Analyses of qualitative data provided valuable insight about health and perceived causes of breast cancer among Black breast cancer survivors. Indeed, further investigation of the Strong

Black Woman Schema highlighted that Black women report neglecting their health by engaging in behaviors that increase risk for poor health, underutilizing the healthcare system, and encountering barriers to seeking care. Relatedly, participants most frequently attributed their breast cancer to well-known social determinants of health, including food, neighborhood and physical environment, community and social context, and health and healthcare.

Prevalence of Distress and Sleep Disturbance in Black Breast Cancer Survivors

In the current study, participants reported higher than average sleep disturbance scores, and approximately 24% of women reported moderate to severe sleep disturbance. Previous research shows similar prevalence in a sample of Black (n=23) and White (n=16) breast cancer survivors⁴⁰ with mean scores exceeding the standardized average on the PROMIS Sleep Disturbance instrument. In a larger sample of Black breast cancer survivors, over 50% of participants reported clinically significant sleep disturbance pre-diagnosis (n=366), 10 months post-diagnosis (n=139), and 2 years post-diagnosis (n=385)³⁹ using the PSQI. The findings from the current study add to this small body of literature by highlighting the prevalence of sleep disturbance in Black breast cancer survivors and underscores the need for further investigation given prolonged issues in this clinical population.

The current study also provides valuable insight about emotional health symptoms. Participants reported relatively low anxiety symptom scores, with the sample mean in the "minimal" symptom range of the GAD-7. Approximately 17% of participants reported symptoms in the moderate to severe range on this measure. Some studies similarly show nonclinical anxiety scores in Black women^{24,149} whereas other studies show that Black women report higher than average anxiety scores⁴⁰. Mean scores for depressive symptoms, however, were in the clinically elevated range on the CES-D, and over 50% of participants scored in the clinical

range. Some studies have previously shown clinically significant levels of depression in Black breast cancer patients^{20,168} while others have shown low average scores for depression in Black breast cancer patients²⁴ and survivors¹⁴⁹. Given that there are mixed findings in the context of anxiety and depression in Black breast cancer survivors, more research is necessary to accurately characterize these emotional and behavioral health concerns.

Traditional Coping Strategies Are Stronger Predictors of Emotional/Behavioral Health than Culturally-Relevant Coping Strategies

As hypothesized, traditional coping was a significant predictor of emotional and behavioral health symptoms in the current study. Specifically, greater use of approach-oriented coping strategies was significantly associated with lower levels of distress and less sleep disturbance, and avoidant-oriented coping strategies were significantly associated with higher levels of distress and more sleep disturbance. Contrary to hypotheses, culturally-relevant strategies (i.e., ACSI) were not significantly associated with distress or sleep disturbance. ACSI cognitive debriefing coping strategies were expected to show distinct associations with distress and sleep disturbance, but all ACSI subscales were highly positively correlated and could not be categorized into approach- and avoidant-oriented coping domains. It is possible that the ACSI is not suitable to examine breast cancer-related health symptoms given nonsignificant associations between ACSI and depression and anxiety in a healthy⁹⁷ and clinical sample of Black women (i.e., those who reported a previous suicide attempt)¹⁶⁰. Notably, some ACSI subscales have overlapping items which would make it difficult to identify protective or harmful associations with emotional and behavioral health symptoms. Given these limitations, the ACSI may best be used to supplement traditional coping strategies by providing valuable descriptive information about psychological responses to stress among Black women.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to examine the COPE and the Africultural Coping Systems Inventory in a sample of Black women diagnosed with breast cancer. Black women in this sample reported similar use of religious coping strategies as Black breast cancer survivors in other studies¹⁶⁹ and relatively similar use of disengagement, problem-focused, spirituality, and social support coping strategies as healthy Black women as measured by the Brief COPE¹⁷⁰. In the current study, Black women also reported lower ACSI scores than Black women in a clinical sample¹⁶⁰ and similar scores for each ACSI coping subscale to healthy Black individuals¹⁷¹. Despite nonsignificant associations with distress and sleep disturbance, these findings demonstrate the ACSI was relevant to this sample of Black breast cancer survivors. Further research is needed to investigate the extent to which this instrument is relevant for breast cancer-related health outcomes in Black women. Of note, culturally-relevant coping strategies have important implications for breast cancer-related health behaviors such as seeking mammograms¹⁷².

Culturally-relevant Factors Are Useful for Understanding Breast Cancer-Related Health in Black Women

In the current study, resilience factors that are relevant to Black women were significantly associated with breast cancer-related emotional and behavioral health outcomes. Psychological resilience, operationalized as hope and optimism, was associated with lower levels of distress and less sleep disturbance. Risk factors and culturally-relevant traits were also significantly associated with breast cancer-related emotional and behavioral health outcomes, though in the opposite direction. Specifically, racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities were associated with higher levels of distress and sleep disturbance. Strong Black Woman qualities were hypothesized to predict lower levels of distress and higher levels of sleep

disturbance given that this conceptual framework posits positive and negative impacts on health¹⁴⁴. However, this construct was negatively associated with both emotional and behavioral health in the current sample which is consistent with findings in healthy Black women^{92,96}. Probing constructs that are highly relevant to Black women, in addition to factors that are typically examined, can be extremely useful in understanding prevalent health concerns in the breast cancer population. Indeed, racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities explained more variance in distress whereas psychological resilience explained more variance in sleep disturbance.

Notably, findings from the current study are consistent with previous research in other clinical and healthy populations. Relevant to racial discrimination, a study with Black breast cancer survivors found that experienced racism was associated with depression and inadequate sleep¹⁷³. In addition, the Strong Black Woman schema was associated with emotional health symptoms, including depression and anxiety⁹⁷, and with sleep quality¹⁷⁴ in non-clinical samples of Black women. This is consistent with findings from the current study showing links between Strong Black woman qualities and higher levels of distress and worse sleep disturbance. In the current sample, John Henryism was not significantly associated with coping strategies, distress, or sleep disturbance. These null findings were not surprising given that previous studies show inconsistent links with health^{111–113} in women. Further, the average score (M=36) on this measure was relatively low in the current study relative to previous research showing associations with poor health outcomes^{115,161} which was likely a hindrance to detecting associations with distress and sleep disturbance. Of note, John Henryism and the Strong Black Woman Schema similarly measure individuals' persistence despite hardship. However, the Strong Black Woman Schema captures additional psychosocial factors that may be particularly salient for emotional and

behavioral health. Given that racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities were significantly associated with distress and sleep disturbance, further examination of culturallyrelevant factors in relation to common emotional and behavioral health outcomes is warranted.

An important contribution of this study is that its examination of traditional and culturally-relevant measures showed inconsistencies in well-known constructs. This is particularly evident with the Strong Black Woman Schema which has been examined as a framework to understand resilience¹⁷⁵. Although resilience is defined as a process of positive adaptation despite experiences with adversity or trauma¹⁷⁶, Strong Black Woman qualities were associated with poor health in the current study. The subscales that comprise this measure represent aspects of resilience, including "obligation to manifest strength" and "determination to succeed despite limited resources". However, there are also subscales that represent risk, including "obligation to suppress emotions" and "resistance to being vulnerable or dependent". The current findings demonstrate that the resilient qualities of the Strong Black Woman Schema did not protect participants from poor emotional and behavioral health symptoms in this sample. Indeed, subscales that represent risk and resilience were correlated with higher levels of distress and sleep disturbance (Exploratory Table 1). Importantly, these findings highlight that the Strong Black Woman schema is distinct from traditional resilience measures and demonstrates that the nuance in this culturally-relevant resilience measure is useful for elucidating poor breast cancerrelated health outcomes in Black women. Of note, associations between Strong Black Woman qualities and poor emotional and behavioral health symptoms are consistent with research showing that culturally compelled coping resources (i.e., adaptive responses to race-related stressors) predict worse mental health¹⁷⁷. These findings highlight an important distinction by showing that SBW traits serve different functions with respect to social context and health. There

are positive implications for community-level factors such that SBW traits have historically been beneficial for survival and maintaining familial structure in the face of threats⁹⁴. However, in the context of health SBW traits represent "an overused asset that develops uncritically without ongoing evaluation and attention to changing needs and demands runs the risk of becoming a liability" ¹⁷⁸ as evidenced in empirical research, including the current study.

Traditional Coping Strategies Represent Significant Pathways to Elucidate Distress and Sleep Disturbance

As evidenced in the current study, coping was an important pathway linking contextual and culturally-relevant factors and common breast cancer-related health concerns. As predicted, psychological resilience was associated with greater use of approach-oriented coping strategies and less use of avoidant-coping strategies. In contrast, racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities were associated with less use of approach- and greater use of avoidant-oriented coping strategies. Further, these coping strategies mediated associations between the predictors and emotional and behavioral symptoms, though effects differed based on the outcome.

In the current study, approach-oriented coping was a statistically significant pathway that consistently explained associations between risk, resilience, and race-related and sleep disturbance. Previous studies show that approach-oriented coping strategies (e.g., acceptance) are associated with positive psychological (e.g., lower depressive symptoms) and physical health (e.g., reductions in pain symptoms) although evidence of links with health are less established⁴⁸. This is consistent with current findings such that approach-oriented strategies mediated associations between higher levels of psychological resilience and lower sleep disturbance. In addition, approach-oriented strategies mediated associations between higher levels of race-related factors (i.e., racial discrimination, SBW traits) and higher sleep disturbance. In previous

studies, approach-oriented coping strategies were associated with sleep disturbance in a healthy sample¹⁷⁹ but were not associated in a breast cancer sample¹⁸⁰. Interestingly, this is the first study to demonstrate links between approach-oriented coping strategies and sleep disturbance in a breast cancer sample.

Findings from the current study also showed that avoidance-oriented coping was a statistically significant pathway that consistently explained associations between risk, resilience, and race-related and distress. Previous research shows that avoidance-oriented coping strategies are associated with poor mental (e.g., depression) and physical health (e.g., increase in pain symptoms)⁴⁸. The current study similarly showed that avoidance-oriented strategies mediated associations between higher levels of psychological resilience and lower distress. In addition, avoidance-oriented coping strategies mediated associations between higher levels of psychological resilience and lower distress. In addition, avoidance-oriented coping strategies mediated associations between higher levels of culturally-relevant factors (i.e., racial discrimination, Strong Black Woman qualities) and higher levels of distress. These findings address a gap in the literature by showing that racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities predict traditional coping strategies in the context of breast cancer. Although racial discrimination and Strong Black Woman qualities may not be easily modified, these significant indirect pathways provide valuable information about potential targets to lower distress and sleep disturbance in Black women.

Characterizing Experiences of Black Women in the Context of Breast Cancer

The current findings provide an important contribution to a growing literature that highlights the relevance of the Strong Black Woman Schema in the context of breast cancer^{181–}¹⁸³. In previous research, Black women indicated that some Strong Black Woman qualities may lead women to engage in behaviors that promote poor health, including sedentary behaviors and alcohol consumption, that are particularly relevant for breast cancer⁹⁹. In the current study,

participants reported each of these behaviors in addition to highlighting a lack of healthy habits and self-care more generally. Importantly, many of these behaviors are linked to morbidities which can exacerbate poor breast cancer-related health outcomes¹⁸⁴. Participants also reported underutilization of the healthcare system which is relevant for breast cancer such that Black women who reported Strong Black Woman traits de-prioritized preventive breast health (e.g., delays in obtaining mammograms) in a qualitative study⁹⁸. Of note, these themes are modifiable and enhancing health-promoting behaviors such as exercise, for example, are known to be associated with better prognosis¹⁸⁵. Thus, these data can be leveraged to address poor health, especially in the context of breast cancer, as it provides important insight on factors that may contribute to higher rates of mortality.

Illness perceptions provide valuable information about poor health given that they are associated with health outcomes¹²¹. However, empirical evidence of breast cancer-related illness perceptions in Black women is limited. To date, only two studies have examined breast cancer-related illness perceptions among Black women. The current study adds to this small body of literature by being the first to qualitatively analyze open-ended responses. Results from previous research show overlap with findings from the current study. In the first study, participants attributed breast cancer risk and delays in breast cancer detection to bad luck or fate, lack of cancer-related symptoms, belief that a higher power determines illness, reluctance to turn to others for help while in an abusive marriage, family history of cancer invulnerability due to other prevalent diseases, and fear of gynecologic exams stemming from childhood abuse¹⁸⁶. In the second study, results indicated that Black women were more likely to attribute breast cancer to immunity (i.e., caused by a germ or virus) relative to White women¹²⁹. These findings are particularly relevant to participants' perceptions that their disease was caused by a vaccine or

surgery. Another important contribution of this study is that qualitative analysis demonstrated that the themes derived from participants' breast cancer-related illness perceptions in the current study represent individual-, structural-, and social-level factors. Distinguishing breast cancer-related illness perceptions in this way provides additional perspective on how to interpret individuals' responses. Further, these data are relevant for promoting change in various domains rather than solely placing blame or responsibility on the individual. Of note, most codes were operationalized as individual- or structural-level causes of breast cancer. Thus, participants' breast cancer-related illness perceptions show that there are various targets to address their beliefs about breast cancer including providing Black women with information about testing for breast cancer, identifying culturally-relevant resources to reduce psychological burden, and utilizing policy-oriented approaches to modify their environments.

Limitations and Future Directions

It is important to note that this study has some limitations. Although the study had adequate power to detect main effects (Aims 1 and 2), mediation analyses were underpowered. The data from this study are also cross-sectional which limits interpretation because causality cannot be determined. Another limitation of this study is that disease-related characteristics were self-reported by participants. A majority of participants were located in California given that participants were largely recruited from the UCLA Cancer Registry. Future research should recruit women from across the United States to determine whether geographic location and socioeconomic status may influence the effects of culturally-relevant and contextual factors on emotional and behavioral health symptoms.

As previously mentioned, the ACSI subscales have similar items which may have overshadowed distinct associations with distress and sleep disturbance and led to high

correlations between subscales. For the open-ended questions in the Superwoman Schema Scale and the Brief Illness Perceptions Questionnaire, participants provided short responses. In some cases, short responses were sufficient to interpret ways of neglecting one's health or perceived causes of breast cancer. However, some responses were more difficult to interpret (e.g., "lifestyle") due to limited details. Another limitation of this study is that we were unable to ask follow-up questions to obtain more information for participants' open-ended responses. Although many of the responses for the Superwoman schema were interpreted as individuallevel factors, it is possible that structural-level barriers may have led participants to neglect their health which warrants further investigation. Similarly, illness perceptions may be classified into categories other than individual-, structural-, and social-level causes of breast cancer, but further interpretation is limited. Future research should examine culturally-relevant measures to provide additional context about unique experiences of Black women that contribute to poor breast cancer-related health outcomes and social contexts.

In terms of survey administration, participants reported barriers to completing the study. Specifically, participants reported computer-related difficulties that prevented them from completing the survey. Some participants had incomplete data due to starting the survey but not submitting their responses. Further, sociodemographic information (e.g., educational attainment) were included at the end of the survey which limited our ability to compare participants who completed the survey relative to participants who did not. Other barriers to completing the survey included distrust. Study materials indicated that participants in the study would involve completion of the online survey, only. However, some participants indicated that they were concerned about biological data collection. Attempts were made to address prospective participants' concerns by scheduling phone calls to provide additional information about the

study and answer any questions which often led participants to enroll in the study. Given that the PI was able to increase study enrollment through interactions to provide further clarification via phone calls and follow-up emails with participants, researchers may benefit from recruiting participants at in-person events to increase recruitment of Black breast cancer survivors.

Conclusions

The current study adds to a small but growing number of cross-sectional studies that focus on behavioral and emotional health outcomes in Black breast cancer survivors^{16,40,149,169,187,188} and provides valuable contributions to the literature. Notably, study results characterized two understudied indicators of emotional and behavioral health, identified predictors of these outcomes, and distinguished between traditional and culturally-relevant coping strategies as significant mediating pathways. In addition, the mixed-methods design was a strength of this study in that it contributed important information about health behaviors and breast cancer-related illness perceptions.

These findings can be leveraged in the breast cancer context in various ways. Healthcare providers should be aware of experiences (e.g., racial discrimination) and traits (e.g., Strong Black Woman qualities) that are salient in Black women in order to effectively communicate with patients about strategies to address these common health concerns. To ensure that the experiences of Black women are acknowledged in healthcare settings, there should be cultural competency training to improve interactions with Black women diagnosed with breast cancer. A recent study showed that despite having higher levels of distress than Black men, White men, and White women, the probability of being referred to psycho-oncology services was lowest among Black women¹⁸⁹. Thus, knowledge of culturally-relevant risk factors, in particular, may be particularly useful to improve health outcomes of Black breast cancer survivors.

The findings from the current study also provide actionable targets to improve health for Black women in the breast cancer population. Specifically, resources can be provided to Black women in healthcare settings and non-healthcare settings to address the factors that underlie neglected health based on findings from this study. Within healthcare settings, healthcare providers may provide patients with tangible solutions to address eating behaviors such as interventions with Black women to increase health-promoting behaviors, utilization of healthcare services, and enhance vital health-related knowledge about causes of breast cancer. Importantly, results from this study show that participants are aware of the harmful factors that contribute to worse health. Therefore, it is possible that they may benefit from tailored interventions that aim to promote healthy behaviors and increase utilization of healthcare services while accounting for the outstanding obligations and breast cancer-related illness perceptions that were reported by Black women in this sample.

Table 1

Characteristics of Study Sample

Age, mean (SD) [range]	56.55 (13.80) [26-90]
Age (at first diagnosis), mean (SD) [range]	52.85 (13.18) [24-88]
Years since first diagnosis, mean (SD)	4.36 (3.10)
Race, n (%)	
Black	151 (100.00)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	151 (100.00)
Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis, n (%)	
Stage 0	28 (19.60)
Stage 1	44 (30.80)
Stage 2	43 (30.10)
Stage 3	16 (11.20)
Stage 4	8 (5.60)
Unsure/Don't Know	4 (2.80)
Surgery Type, n (%)	
Lumpectomy	73 (57.00)
Mastectomy	48 (37.50)
Lumpectomy + Mastectomy	7 (5.50)
Breast Cancer Treatment, n (%)	
Currently receiving treatment	52 (40.00)
Previously received treatment	78 (60.00)
Treatment Type, n (%)	
Radiation	88 (58.30)
Chemotherapy	78 (51.70)
Endocrine therapy	48 (27.20)
Trastuzumab	10 (6.60)
TNBC, n (%) (n=143)	
Yes	28 (19.60)
No	115 (80.40)

Table 2

Summary of	of Health	Symptoms	and P	svcholo	gical ar	nd Cultura	lly-Relevant	Factors
					()			

GAD-7 (N=104), mean (SD)	4.70 (5.52)
Minimal, n (%)	64 (61.50)
Mild, n (%)	22 (21.20)
Moderate, n (%)	8 (7.70)
Severe, n (%)	10 (9.60)
CES-D (n=108), mean (SD)	18.69 (6.82)
0-15, n (%)	51 (47.20)
≥16, n (%)	57 (52.80)
PROMIS Sleep (N=105), mean (SD)	52.34 (10.37)
Within normal limits, n (%)	59 (56.20)
Mild, n (%)	21 (20.00)
Moderate, n (%)	18 (17.10)
Severe, n (%)	7 (6.70)
Everyday Discrimination Scale (N=106), mean (SD)	21.58 (9.42)
Psychological Resources, mean (SD)	
Optimism (n=111)	17.54 (5.21)
Hope (n=102)	70.80 (7.38)
SBW (N=133), mean (SD)	65.44 (17.57)
Obligation to manifest strength, mean (SD) (n=134)	13.87 (2.85)
Obligation to suppress emotions, mean (SD) (n=138)	11.59 (4.55)
Resistance to being vulnerable or dependent, mean (SD) (n=138)	12.59 (4.93)
Determination to succeed despite limited resources, mean (SD) (n=138)	11.84 (3.44)
Obligation to help others, mean (SD) (n=137)	14.90 (6.40)
John Henryism (n=113), mean (SD)	36.35 (5.39)
COPE, mean (SD)	
Positive Reinterpretation (n=136)	3.33 (0.67)
Acceptance (n=134)	3.18 (0.60)
Problem-Focused (n=136)	3.33 (0.63)
Seeking Social Support (n=136)	2.66 (0.83)
Emotional Expression (n=133)	2.72 (0.80)
Emotional Processing (n=131)	3.13 (0.77)
Religious Coping (n=123)	3.21 (1.01)
Denial (n=136)	1.43 (0.57)
Mental Disengagement (n=136)	2.39 (0.62)
Behavioral Disengagement (n=136)	1.61 (0.57)
Approach Composite (n=136)	3.06 (0.51)
Avoidance Composite (n=136)	1.81 (0.47)
ACSI, mean (SD)	
ACSI Cognitive Emotional Debriefing (n=123)	0.96 (0.55)
ACSI Spiritual Coping (n=123)	1.17 (0.76)
ACSI Collective Coping (n=123)	1.23 (0.64)
ACSI Ritual Coping (n=119)	0.36 (0.69)

ACSI Total (n=105)	31.44 (15.64)
T 11 2	

Table 3

Bivariate Correlations Between Risk, Resilience, and Race-Related Factors

	1	2	3	4
1. Racial Discrimination	-			
2. Strong Black Woman	0.43**	-		
3. Psychological Resilience	-0.41**	-0.23*	-	
4. John Henryism	-0.08	0.08	0.32	-

Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.
Bivariate Correlations Between Traditional and Culturally-Relevant Coping Strategies

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. ACSI Cognitive Emotional Debriefing	-					
2. ACSI Spiritual	0.52***	-				
3. ACSI Collective Coping	0.62***	0.61***	-			
4. ACSI Ritual Coping	0.42***	0.33***	0.30**	-		
5. COPE Approach	0.19	0.35**	0.49***	0.05	-	
6. COPE Avoidance	0.39***	0.12	0.14	0.16	-0.13	-

Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. ACSI = Africultural Coping Systems Inventory.

Associations between Coping Strategies and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms

		Distress		Sleep Disturbance			
	b	р	\mathbb{R}^2	b	р	R ²	
COPE Approach Composite	-7.00	0.003**	0.20	-6.91	<0.001***	0.16	
Age	-0.25	0.01*		-0.05	0.47		
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.26	0.50		-0.30	0.34		
COPE Avoidant Composite	11.82	<0.001***	0.32	4.24	0.03*	0.07	
Age	-0.22	0.01*		-0.08	0.30		
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.24	0.50		-0.31	0.35		
ACSI Total	0.04	0.63	0.14	-0.02	0.82	0.05	
Age	-0.36	<0.001***		-0.14	0.08		
Years Since Diagnosis	0.12	0.78		-0.18	0.60		
ACSI Cognitive Emotional Debriefing	0.31	0.20	0.14	0.15	0.42	0.05	
Age	-0.30	0.004**		-0.10	0.21		
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.03	0.94		-0.24	0.47		
ACSI Collective Coping	-0.24	0.38	0.15	-0.16	0.46	0.05	
Age	-0.35	<0.001***		-0.11	0.16		
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.13	0.75		-0.29	0.39		
ACSI Ritual Coping	0.87	0.17	0.14	0.34	0.50	0.04	
Age	-0.31	0.002**		-0.11	0.17		
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.22	0.60		-0.30	0.37		

ACSI Spiritual Coping	-0.17	0.36	0.11	-0.15	0.30	0.05
Age	-0.29	0.004**		-0.11	0.17	
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.26	0.52		-0.26	0.42	

Note. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

Associations between Risk, Resilience, and Culturally-Relevant Factors and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms

		Distress		Sle	ep Disturba	ance
	b	р	R ²	b	р	R ²
Psychological Resilience	-0.61	<0.001***	0.10	-0.30	0.01*	0.31
Age	-0.18	0.55		-0.01	0.87	
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.45	0.24		-0.35	0.30	
Racial Discrimination	0.48	<0.001***	0.24	0.29	0.01*	0.12
Age	-0.28	0.003**		-0.09	0.23	
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.09	0.81		-0.25	0.45	
Strong Black Woman Schema	0.27	<0.001***	0.29	0.15	0.01*	0.13
Age	-0.33	<0.001***		-0.12	0.11	
Years Since Diagnosis	0.14	0.73		-0.10	0.76	
John Henryism	-0.24	0.33	0.12	-0.24	0.20	0.05
Age	-0.29	0.003**		-0.10	0.20	
Years Since Diagnosis	-0.27	0.51		-0.33	0.31	

Note. **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

Coping	Strategies as	Mediators of th	e Associations	s between Rac	rial Discrimina	tion and Emotic	onal/Behavioral	Health Symptoms
1 0	0	,						~ 1

			Distress				Sleep	Disturbance	•	
	Indirect Effect	Х→М	М→Ү	Direct Effect	Total Effect	Indirect Effect	Х→М	М→Ү	Direct Effect	Total Effect
	ab path b (SE) [CI]	a path b (p)	b path b (p)	c' path b (p)	c path b (p)	ab path b (SE) [CI]	a path b (p)	b path b (p)	c' path b (p)	c path b (p)
Predictor: Racial Discrimination		-0.01 (0.01)*		0.43 (0.002)**	0.50 (0.0002)***		-0.01 (0.01)*		0.21 (0.048)*	0.30 (0.01)*
Mediator: COPE Approach	0.07 (0.04) [-0.004, 0.17]		-4.76 (0.05)			0.08 (0.04) [0.01, 0.18]		-5.56 (0.01)		
Age		0.02 (0.06)		-0.25 (0.01)*	-0.29 (0.002)**		0.01 (0.046)*		-0.05 (0.52)	-0.10 (0.22)
Years Since Diagnosis		-0.002 (0.93)		-0.15 (0.70)	-0.14 (0.72)		-0.002 (0.92)		-0.26 (0.41)	-0.26 (0.42)
Predictor: Racial Discrimination		0.02 (0.001)		0.32 (0.01)	0.50 (0.0002)		0.02 (0.0006)***		0.26 (0.02)*	0.30 (0.01)*
Mediator: COPE Avoidant	0.16 (0.07) [0.03, 0.32]		10.05 (0.0001)			0.03 (0.03) [-0.05, 0.11]		1.68 (0.43)		
Age		-0.01 (0.09)		-0.21 (0.01)	-0.29 (0.002)		-0.01 (0.03)*		-0.08 (0.30)	-0.10 (0.22)
Years Since Diagnosis		0.01 (0.02)*		-0.16 (0.66)	-0.14 (0.72)		0.002 (0.91)		-0.27 (0.42)	-0.26 (0.42)

Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; Significant indirect effects are bolded.

Coping Strategies as	s Mediators of the	Associations between	Psychologica	al Resilience and	Emotional/Be	havioral Health	h Symptoms

			Distress			Sleep Disturbance				
	Indirect Effect	Х→М	М→Ү	Direct Effect	Total Effect	Indirect Effect	X→M	м→ү	Direct Effect	Total Effect
	ab path b (SE) [CI]	a path b (p)	b path b (p)	c' path b (p)	c path b (p)	ab path b (SE) [CI]	a path b (p)	b path b (p)	c' path b (p)	c path b (p)
Predictor: Psychological Resilience		0.03 (<0.00001)***		-0.58 (0.0001)***	-0.61 (<0.00001)***		0.03 (<0.0001)***		-0.15 (0.21)	-0.30 (0.01)*
Mediator: COPE Approach	-0.03 (0.08) [-0.20, 0.11]		-1.17 (0.68)			-0.15 (0.06) [-0.29, -0.04]		-5.46 (0.02)*		
Age		0.002 (0.60)		-0.17 (0.06)	-0.18 (0.06)		0.001 (0.62)		-0.003 (0.97)	-0.01 (0.87)
Years Since Diagnosis		-0.002 (0.91)		-0.45 (0.24)	-0.45 (0.24)		-0.002 (0.90)		-0.36 (0.28)	-0.35 (0.30)
Predictor: Psychological Resilience		-0.02 (0.0001)***		-0.44 (0.0004)***	-0.61 (<0.00001)***		-0.02 (0.0003)***		-0.27 (0.02)*	-0.30 (0.01)*
Mediator: COPE Avoidant	-0.16 (0.06) [-0.28, -0.04]		8.38 (0.001)**			-0.03 (0.04) [-0.12, 0.04]		1.71 (0.44)		
Age		-0.01 (0.17)		-0.13 (0.13)	-0.17 (0.05)		-0.01 (0.10)		0.01 (0.95)	-0.01 (0.94)
Years Since Diagnosis		-0.01 (0.69)		-0.39 (0.28)	-0.45 (0.24)		-0.01 (0.54)		-0.31 (0.38)	-0.32 (0.35)

Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; Significant indirect effects are bolded.

Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations between Race-Related Factors and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms

			Distress			Sleep Disturbance					
	Indirect	Х→М	м→ү	Direct	Total	Indirect	X→M	М→Ү	Direct	Total	
	Effect			Effect	Effect	Effect			Effect	Effect	
	ah nath	a nath	h nath	c' nath	c path	ah nath	a nath	h nath	c' nath	c nath	
	b	h h	b	b b	b b	b	h h	b	b b	b	
	(SE)	(p)	(p)	(p)	(p)	(SE)	(p)	(p)	(p)	(p)	
	[CI]	· · ·	· · ·	· · ·	· · ·	[CI]		,			
Predictor:		-0.01		0.23	0.27		-0.01		0.09	0.15	
Strong Black		(<0.00001)***		(0.002)**	(0.0001)**		(<0.00001)***		(0.13)	(0.005)**	
Woman Mediator:	0.04	. ,			. ,	0.06	· · · ·		. ,	, ,	
COPE	(0.04)		-2.83			(0.03)		-5.17			
Approach	[-0.03, 0.12]		(0.27)			[0.01,0.14]		(0.02)*			
Age		0.01		-0.31	-0.33		0.01		-0.08	-0.12	
		(0.04)*		(0.002)**	(0.001)**		(0.04)*		(0.28)	(0.11)	
Years		-0.02		0.08	0.14		-0.02		-0.18	-0.10	
Since		(0.24)		(0.83)	(0.73)		(0.29)		(0.57)	(0.76)	
Predictor:											
Strong Black		0.01		0.21	0.27		0.01		0.14	0.15	
Woman		(0.03)*		(0.001)**	(0.0001)**		(0.03)*		(0.01)*	(0.01)*	
Mediator:	0.06		9 64			0.01		1.86			
COPE	(0.03)		(<0.00001)***			(0.01)		(0.35)			
Avoidant	[0.01, 0.13]	0.01	``´´	0.26	0.22	[-0.01, 0.04]	0.01	· · ·	0.11	0.12	
Age		-0.01		-0.26	-0.33		(0.07)		(0.18)	(0.13)	
Years		(0.05)		(0.003)	0.14		0.000		0.10	0.10	
Since		0.005		0.09	0.14		0.0002		-0.10	-0.10	
Diagnosis		(0.79)		(0.79)	(0.73)		(0.99)		(0.76)	(0.76)	
Predictor:		0.000		0.55	0.51		0.000				
John		0.002		-0.22	-0.24		0.003		-0.22	-0.24	
Henryism		(0.84)		(0.34)	(0.33)		(0.79)		(0.21)	(0.20)	
Mediator:	-0.01					-0.02					
COPE	(0.08)		-7.02			(0.07)		-6.32			
Approach	[-0.19, 0.16]		(0.004)**			[-0.17, 0.12]		(0.001)**			

Age		0.007 (0.08)		-0.24 (0.01)**	-0.29 (0.003)**		0.008 (0.06)		-0.05 (0.50)	-0.10 (0.20)
Years Since Diagnosis		0.002 (0.93)		-0.26 (0.51)	-0.27 (0.51)		0.003 (0.86)		-0.31 (0.32)	-0.33 (0.31)
Predictor: John Henryism		-0.02 (0.10)		-0.05 (0.81)	-0.24 (0.33)		-0.01 (0.18)		-0.20 (0.30)	-0.24 (0.20)
Mediator: COPE Avoidant	-0.18 (0.12) [-0.44, 0.05]		11.57 (<0.00001)***			-0.04 (0.04) [-0.13, 0.03]		3.46 (0.09)		
Age		-0.01 (0.07)		-0.21 (0.02)*	-0.29 (0.003)**		-0.01 (0.06)		-0.07 (0.35)	-0.10 (0.31)
Years Since Diagnosis		-0.003 (0.87)		-0.24 (0.52)	-0.27 (0.51)		-0.01 (0.75)		-0.31 (0.34)	-0.33 (0.31)

Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; Significant indirect effects are bolded.

Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations between Racial Discrimination and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms



Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Significant indirect effects are bolded.

Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations between Psychological Resilience and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms



Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Significant indirect effects are bolded.

Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations between Strong Black Woman Traits and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms



Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; Significant indirect effects are bolded. SBW=Strong Black Woman Traits.

Coping Strategies as Mediators of the Associations between John Henryism and Emotional/Behavioral Health Symptoms



Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

Strong Black Woman Schema: Acknowledging Ways of Neglecting Health

Theme	Count	Category	Count	Code	Count	Representative Quote
Behaviors that increase risk for poor health	79	Compromising Lifestyle Choices	58	Lack of rest	8	"Not taking time to workout"
				Lack of self-care	11	"Not catching things soonernot valuing my body"
				Lack of healthy habits	13	"Sometimes I forget [to] take medicine, sometimes I don't get the proper rest"
				Lack of exercise	26	"Not taking time to workout"
		Poor Health Behaviors	21	Smoking	1	"I drink and smoke occasionally but I stopped smoking for chemo"
				Acknowledging unhealthy eating habits	18	"Not eating properly on a consistent basis"
				Acknowledging unhealthy drinking habits	3	"I drink alcohol too often"
Underutilization of the healthcare system	48	Irregular interactions with the healthcare system	33	Not seeking medical care	14	"I should have gotten my breast lump checked a few months earlier"
				Delaying medical care	11	"Not acting fast enough. Delay going to doctor"
				Not reporting health symptoms	2	"Not sharing all of my concerns when I do see the doctor"

				Ignoring health symptoms	6	"I ignore aches and pains sometimes. I push too hard when my joints want me to stop"
		De-prioritizing health due to outside obligations	15	Obligations upstage personal health needs and care	15	"I will skip morning workouts to get my family ready and out the house. I delayed doctor appointments because of work meeting schedules."
Barriers to seeking health care	8	Stress and Mental Health Exacerbate Poor Health	7	Psychological barriers	7	"I stress about things I shouldn't causing myself anxiety and depression."
		Financial barriers	1	Financial restrictions	1	"If I don't have money, I don't seek care"

Illness Perceptions: Perceived Causes of Breast Cancer

Theme	Code	Count	Representative Quote	Individual	Structural	Social
Economic Stability (n=3)	Work	3	"My work"		~	
Neighborhood and physical environment (n=37)	Environmental factors	35	"Environment"		~	
	Lack of exercise	2	"Lack of exercise"	✓		
Food (n=42)	Consumption of unhealthy foods	20	"Foods I eat"	×		
	Consumption of alcohol	6	"My drinking"	×		
	Weight	7	"Being overweight. Obesity can lead to the majority of multiple chronic illnesses"	~		
	Low food quality	8	"American Food Sources (GMO/Seafood Toxins/Artificial Ingredients)"		~	
	Lack of water	1	"More water"	×		
Community and social context (n=35)	Stress	25	"Chronic stress"	~		
	Interpersonal relationships	6	"A broken heart over a divorce"			~
	Race	3	"Being Black"	 ✓ 		
	Racism	1	"Racism"			 ✓
Health and Healthcare	History of family health	34	"Genetic, my sister is stage 4"			×

(<i>n</i> =83)						
	Hormones	16	"over production of estrogen"	~		
	Health condition	12	"Fibroids"	<		
	Not utilizing health services	4	"Late diagnosis"	~	V	
	Mental health	6	"Depression"	<		
	Poor health due to race	2	"Poor care black woman get"		~	
	Surgery	2	"I had an elective medial surgery"		V	
	Vaccine	1	"Vaccines"		 ✓ 	
	Biological	5	"My biological makeup"	<		
	Inflammation	1	"Inflammation"	<		
Additional Factors						
Sociodemographic factors (n=9)	Age	8	"Age"			×
	Gender	1	"Being female"			V
Exposure to toxins (n=3)	Smoking	2	"Past smoking"	~		
	Hair chemicals	1	"Hair relaxers"		 ✓ 	
Unknown/Higher Power (n=26)	Chance	12	"Life"			×
	Religion	4	"God"			V
	Unsure	10	"No idea"			V
Lifestyle (n=6)	Lifestyle	6	"Lifestyle"	~	×	

Exploratory Table 1

Bivariate Associations Between Strong Black Woman Schema Subscales and Distress and Sleep Disturbance

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. SBW Strength	-						
2. SBW Suppress Emotions	0.50***	-					
3. SBW Vulnerable	0.42***	0.75***	-				
4. SBW Succeed	0.51***	0.40***	0.51***	-			
5. SBW Others	0.47***	0.60***	0.58***	0.54***	-		
6. Distress	0.18	0.39***	0.48***	0.21*	0.37***	-	
7. Sleep Disturbance	0.20**	0.36	0.33***	-0.04	0.23*	0.54***	_

Note. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. SBW Strength = Obligation to manifest strength; SBW Suppress Emotions = Obligation to suppress emotions; SBW Vulnerable = Resistance to being vulnerable or dependent; SBW Succeed = Determination to succeed despite limited resources; SBW Others = Obligation to help others.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2019;69(1):7-34. doi:10.3322/caac.21551
- Cancer Incidence Among African Americans, United States—2007–2016. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/uscs/about/data-briefs/no15cancer-incidence-African-Americans-2007-2016.htm. Published 2020. Accessed March 15, 2022.
- Breast Cancer: Facts & Figures 2019-2020. Atlanta; 2019.
 https://www.cancer.org/content/dam/cancer-org/research/cancer-facts-andstatistics/breast-cancer-facts-and-figures/breast-cancer-facts-and-figures-2019-2020.pdf.
 Accessed November 2, 2021.
- Newman LA, Kaljee LM. Health Disparities and Triple-Negative Breast Cancer in African American Women. *JAMA Surg.* 2017;152(5):485. doi:10.1001/jamasurg.2017.0005
- Press R, Carrasquillo O, Sciacca RRD, Giardina E-G V. Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Time to Follow-Up after an Abnormal Mammogram. *J WOMEN'S Heal*. 2008;17(6). doi:10.1089/jwh.2007.0402
- Albain KS, Gray RJ, Makower DF, et al. Race, Ethnicity, and Clinical Outcomes in Hormone Receptor-Positive, HER2-Negative, Node-Negative Breast Cancer in the Randomized TAILORx Trial. *JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2021;113(4):390-399. doi:10.1093/jnci/djaa148
- 7. Reich M, Lesur A, Perdrizet-Chevallier C. Depression, quality of life and breast cancer: a review of the literature. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2008;110(1):9-17. doi:10.1007/s10549-

007-9706-5

- Adler NE, Rehkopf DH. U.S. Disparities in Health: Descriptions, Causes, and Mechanisms. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2008;29(1):235-252. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090852
- Carreira H, Williams R, Müller M, Harewood R, Stanway S, Bhaskaran K. Associations Between Breast Cancer Survivorship and Adverse Mental Health Outcomes: A Systematic Review. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018;110(12):1311-1327. doi:10.1093/jnci/djy177
- Agarwal J, Powers K, Pappas L, et al. Correlates of elevated distress thermometer scores in breast cancer patients. *Support Care Cancer*. 2013;21(8):2125-2136. doi:10.1007/s00520-013-1773-z
- Bultz BD, Loscalzo MJ, Clark KL. Screening for distress, the 6th vital sign: Where are we, and where are we going? In: *Clinical Psycho-Oncology: An International Perspective*. John Wiley & Sons; 2012.

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=f7nA6ym7EhEC&oi=fnd&pg=PA83&dq =Screening+for+distress,+the+6th+vital+sign:+Where+are+we,+and+where+are+we+goi ng%3F&ots=PhWF8iSZ7L&sig=5MnTH-

O3fnJwY3mK71HKKLkzZ18#v=onepage&q=Screening%2520for%2520distress%252C %2520the%252. Accessed January 30, 2022.

- Holland JC, Andersen B, Breitbart WS, et al. Distress Management. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw. 2013;11(2):190-209. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2013.0027
- Burke Beckjord E, Reynolds KA, van Londen GJ, et al. Population-Level Trends in Posttreatment Cancer Survivors' Concerns and Associated Receipt of Care: Results from the 2006 and 2010 LIVESTRONG Surveys. J Psychosoc Oncol. 2006;32(2):125-151.

doi:10.1080/07347332.2013.874004

- Stark D, House A. Anxiety in cancer patients. *Br J Cancer*. 2000;83(10):1261-1267. doi:10.1054/bjoc.2000.1405
- Ell K, Sanchez K, Vourlekis B, et al. Depression, correlates of depression, and receipt of depression care among low-income women with breast or gynecologic cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2005;23(13):3052-3060. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.08.041
- 16. Culver JL, Arena PL, Antoni MH, Carver CS. Coping And Distress Among Women Under Treatment for Early Stage Breast Cancer: Comparing African Americans, Hispanics, and Non-Hispanic Whites. *Psychooncology*. 2002;11:495-504. doi:10.1002/pon.615
- Spencer SM, Lehman JM, Wynings C, et al. Concerns about breast cancer and relations to psychosocial well-being in a multiethnic sample of early-stage patients. *Heal Psychol*. 1999;18(2).

https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/45203181/Spencer_SM_Lehman_JM_Wynings_C_ et_al._Co20160429-32640-3cd9tt-with-cover-page-

v2.pdf?Expires=1645601275&Signature=XEwE3eh~JKPouEoz0I4gTEh-2lZCFHz3A-NVfyA3SMLjB1n8TgCL56leiDUL8U9lwatz48XMWgpHPdt2VunNQK09bqdOup. Accessed February 22, 2022.

- 18. Giedzinska AS, Meyerowitz BE, Ganz PA, Rowland JH. *Health-Related Quality of Life in a Multiethnic Sample of Breast Cancer Survivors.*; 2004. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1207/s15324796abm2801_6.pdf. Accessed February 22, 2022.
- 19. Deshields T, Tibbs T, Fan M-Y, Taylor M. Differences in patterns of depression after

treatment for breast cancer. Psychooncology. 2006;15(5):398-406. doi:10.1002/pon.962

- Sheppard VB, Llanos AA, Hurtado-de-Mendoza A, Taylor TR, Adams-Campbell LL. Correlates of depressive symptomatology in African-American breast cancer patients. J Cancer Surviv. 2013;7(3):292-299. doi:10.1007/s11764-013-0273-y
- Janz NK, Mujahid MS, Hawley ST, et al. Racial/ethnic differences in quality of life after diagnosis of breast cancer. *J Cancer Surviv*. 2009;3(4):212-222. doi:10.1007/s11764-009-0097-y
- 22. Von Ah DM, Russell KM, Carpenter J, et al. Health-related quality of life of african american breast cancer survivors compared with healthy African American women. *Cancer Nurs.* 2012;35(5):337-346. doi:10.1097/NCC.0b013e3182393de3
- 23. Edmed SL, Huda MM, Smith SS, et al. Prevalence and predictors of sleep problems in women following a cancer diagnosis: results from the women's wellness after cancer program. *J Cancer Surviv*. February 2023:1-12. doi:10.1007/s11764-023-01346-9
- Sheppard VB, Harper FWK, Davis K, Hirpa F, Makambi K. The importance of contextual factors and age in association with anxiety and depression in Black breast cancer patients. *Psychooncology*. 2014;23(2):143-150. doi:10.1002/pon.3382
- Giaquinto AN, Sung H, Miller KD, et al. Breast cancer statistics, 2022. *CA Cancer J Clin*.
 2022;72(6).
- Barnes DM, Keyes KM, Bates LM. Racial differences in depression in the United States: how do subgroup analyses inform a paradox? *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*. 2013;48:1941-1949.
- 27. Breslau J, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Kendler KS, Su M, Williams D, Kessler RC. Specifying race-ethnic differences in risk for psychiatric disorder in a USA national sample. *Psychol*

Med. 2006;36(1):57-68.

- 28. Kiecolt KJ, Hughes M, Keith VM. Race, social relationships, and mental health. *Pers Relatsh.* 2008;15:229-245.
- Russell KM, Von Ah DM, Giesler RB, Storniolo AM, Haase JE. Quality of Life of African American Breast Cancer Survivors. *Cancer Nurs*. 2008;31(6):E36-E45. doi:10.1097/01.NCC.0000339254.68324.d7
- Hamlish T, Papautsky EL. Differences in Emotional Distress Among Black and White Breast Cancer Survivors During the Covid-19 Pandemic: a National Survey. *J Racial Ethn Heal Disparities*. 2022;9(2):576-580. doi:10.1007/s40615-021-00990-0
- Maly RC, Umezawa Y, Leake B, Silliman RA. Mental health outcomes in older women with breast cancer: Impact of perceived family support and adjustment. *Psychooncology*. 2005;14(7):535-545. doi:10.1002/pon.869
- Kressin NR, Wormwood JB, Battaglia TA, Slanetz PJ, Gunn CM. Women's Reactions to Breast Density Information Vary by Sociodemographic Characteristics. *Women's Heal Issues*. 2023;33(4):435-442.
- Madison AA, Peng J, Shrout MR, et al. Distress Trajectories in Black and White Breast Cancer Survivors: From Diagnosis to Survivorship. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2021;131:105288. doi:10.1016/J.PSYNEUEN.2021.105288
- Barnes DM, Bates LM. Do racial patterns in psychological distress shed light on the Black–White depression paradox? A systematic review. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2017;52:913-928.
- 35. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics S. *Results from the 2013 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Mental Health Findings*. http://store.samhsa.gov/home. Accessed

January 30, 2022.

- Taylor DJ, Lichstein KL, Durrence HH, Reidelm BW, Bush AJ. Epidemiology of Insomnia, Depression, and Anxiety. *Insomnia*. 2004;28(11). https://academic.oup.com/sleep/article/28/11/1457/2707988. Accessed April 20, 2022.
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds III CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: A New Instrument for Psychiatric Practice and Research. *Psychiatry Res.* 1988;28:193-213.
- Barber LE, McCullough LE, Johnson DA. Eyes Wide Open: Sleep as a Potential Contributor to Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2024. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-23-1117
- Gonzalez BD, Eisel SL, Qin B, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, and trajectories of sleep disturbance in a cohort of African-American breast cancer survivors. *Support Care Cancer*. 2021;29(5):2761-2770. doi:10.1007/s00520-020-05786-2
- Schreier AM, Johnson LA, Vohra NA, Muzaffar M, Kyle B. Post-Treatment Symptoms of Pain, Anxiety, Sleep Disturbance, and Fatigue in Breast Cancer Survivors. *Pain Manag Nurs*. 2019;20(2):146-151. doi:10.1016/J.PMN.2018.09.005
- 41. Taylor TR, Huntley ED, Makambi K, et al. Understanding sleep disturbances in African-American breast cancer survivors: a pilot study. *Psychooncology*. 2012;21(8):896-902. doi:10.1002/pon.2000
- 42. Burgess C, Cornelius V, Love S, Graham J, Richards M, Ramirez A. Depression and anxiety in women with early breast cancer: five year observational cohort study. 2005. doi:10.1136/bmj.38343.670868.D3
- 43. Moadel AB, Morgan C, Dutcher J. Psychosocial needs assessment among an underserved,

ethnically diverse cancer patient population. *Cancer*. 2007;109(S2):446-454. doi:10.1002/cncr.22357

- 44. Stanton AL, Wiley JF, Krull JL, Crespi CM, Weihs KL. Cancer-Related Coping Processes as Predictors of Depressive Symptoms, Trajectories, and Episodes. *Association*. 2019;86(10):820-830. doi:10.1037/ccp0000328.supp
- 45. Clark R, Anderson NB, Clark VR, Williams DR. *Racism as a Stressor for African Americans A Biopsychosocial Model.*; 1999.
 https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/bbe6/632bec7fd9cf8a741452db6ecb6bc3f0c391.pdf. Accessed July 17, 2019.
- 46. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal and Coping. New York: Springer; 1984.
- 47. Aldwin CM, Revenson TA. Does Coping Help? A Reexamination of the Relation Between Coping and Mental Health Normative Aging Study Boston Veterans Administration Outpatient Clinic. Vol 53. Psychological Association, Inc; 1987. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Carolyn-Aldwin/publication/19535402_Does_Coping_Help_A_Reexamination_of_the_Relation_ Between_Coping_and_Mental_Health/links/00b7d52f27fcb2c209000000/Does-Coping-

Help-A-Reexamination-of-the-Relation-Between-Coping-and-Mental-Health.pdf. Accessed May 6, 2022.

- 48. Taylor SE, Stanton AL. Coping Resources, Coping Processes, and Mental Health. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* 2007;3(1):377-401. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091520
- 49. Skinner EA, Zimmer-Gembeck MJ. The Development of Coping. *Annu Rev Psychol*.
 2006;58:119-144. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085705
- 50. Suls J, Fletcher B. The relative efficacy of avoidant and nonavoidant coping strategies: a

meta-analysis. Health Psychol. 1985;4(3):249-288. doi:10.1037//0278-6133.4.3.249

- 51. Fasano J, Shao T, Huang H, Kessler AJ, Kolodka OP, Shapiro CL. Optimism and coping: do they influence health outcomes in women with breast cancer? A systemic review and meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*. 2020;183(3):495-501. doi:10.1007/s10549-020-05800-5
- 52. Gaston-Johansson F, Haisfield-Wolfe ME, Reddick B, Goldstein N, Lawal TA. The Relationships Among Coping Strategies, Religious Coping, and Spirituality in African American Women With Breast Cancer Receiving Chemotherapy. *Oncol Nurs Soc*. 2013;40(2).

https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=3d189ca1-ed3b-4b36-8789-937f00329762%40redis. Accessed November 12, 2021.

- 53. Reynolds P, Hurley S, Torres M, Jackson J, Boyd P, Chen VW. Use of Coping Strategies and Breast Cancer Survival: Results from the Black/White Cancer Survival Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2000;152(10):940-949. doi:10.1093/aje/152.10.940
- Yoo GJ, Levine EG, Pasick R. Breast cancer and coping among women of color: a systematic review of the literature. *Support Care Cancer*. 2014;22(3):811-824. doi:10.1007/s00520-013-2057-3
- 55. Carver CS, Scheier MF, Weintraub JK. Assessing Coping Strategies: A Theoretically Based Approach. Vol 56.; 1989. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.1022.750&rep=rep1&type=pdf
 . Accessed May 28, 2020.
- 56. Folkman S, Lazarus RS. Manual for the ways of coping questionnaire: Research edition.1988.

- 57. Lincoln C harle. E, Mamiya LH. *The Black Church in the African-American Experience*.;
 1990. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=UapGsDwHj8C&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&ots=iBLPHSyrX&sig=L0NoGVU9plbiwT1oGBB1gMLlPzQ#v=onepage&q&f=false. Accessed
 November 19, 2021.
- Koenig H, Pargament K, Nielsen J. Religious Coping and Health Status in Medically Ill Hospitalized Older Adults. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* 1998;186(9).
- 59. Yan AF, Stevens P, Holt C, et al. Culture, identity, strength and spirituality: A qualitative study to understand experiences of African American women breast cancer survivors and recommendations for intervention development. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)*.
 2019;28(3):e13013. doi:10.1111/ecc.13013
- Hamilton JB, Powe BD, Pollard AB, Lee KJ, Felton AM. Spirituality Among African American Cancer Survivors. *Cancer Nurs*. 2007;30(4):309-316. doi:10.1097/01.NCC.0000281730.17985.f5
- Holt CL, Caplan L, Schulz E, Blake V, Buckner A, Ma HL. Role of Religion in Cancer Coping Among African Americans: A Qualitative Examination. *J Psychosoc Oncol.* 2009;27(2):248-273. doi:10.1080/07347330902776028
- Roff LL, Simon CE, Nelson-Gardell D, Pleasants HM. Spiritual Support and African American Breast Cancer Survivors. 2009. doi:10.1177/0886109909337372
- Simon CE, Crowther M, Higgerson H-K. The stage-specific role of spirituality among African American Christian women throughout the breast cancer experience. *Cult Divers Ethn Minor Psychol.* 2007;13(1):26-34. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.13.1.26
- 64. Bourjolly JN, Hirschman KB. Similarities in Coping Strategies but Differences in Sources

of Support Among African American and White Women Coping with Breast Cancer. *J Psychosoc Oncol.* 2001;19(2). doi:10.1300/J077v19n02_02

- 65. Gallia KS, Pines EW. NARRATIVE IDENTITY AND SPIRITUALITY OF AFRICAN AMERICAN CHURCHWOMEN SURVIVI...: EBSCOhost. J Cult Divers . 2009;16(2). https://web.p.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=e387112e-806a-49f0-bfe3-4de3e64e9653%40redis. Accessed November 17, 2021.
- 66. Gibson LM, Hendricks CS. Integrative review of spirituality in African American breast cancer survivors. *ABNF J*. 2006;17(2):67-72.
- 67. Pargament KI, Koenig HG, Perez LM. The many methods of religious coping: Development and initial validation of the RCOPE. *J Clin Psychol*. 2000;56(4):519-543. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4679(200004)56:4<519::AID-JCLP6>3.0.CO;2-1
- 68. Pargament KI, Smith BW, Koenig HG, Perez L. Patterns of Positive and Negative Religious Coping with Major Life Stressors. Vol 37.; 1998. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/1388152.pdf?casa_token=5Q2r3MV3DxYAAAAA:4Br MWWLR0Zxsik6GUAcFp9E7Lj8MgkUADG9H-xCcIA7-AB2Qm49Tvt1cXqRQDroQUZX-

pT7Ujawjsaw4zRWNKpiXXbQR7Y4VLLuCe2OIJIiZVuz2dw. Accessed May 15, 2022.

- 69. Utsey SO, Adams EP, Bolden M. Development and Initial Validation of the Africultural Coping Systems Inventory. Vol 26.; 2000. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0095798400026002005?casa_token=7bXJ5 nBlzhwAAAAA:FHCr9QLHCFi8x_TrwSDExJw7NBPhYfl9zfUYwBTTVvBLFm9QJV YcFyqVhkzJzl0FEdHfhrbHbE. Accessed January 31, 2022.
- 70. Thomas AJ, Witherspoon KM, Speight SL. Gendered Racism, Psychological Distress, and

Coping Styles of African American Women. 2008. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.14.4.307

- Greer TM. Coping Strategies as Moderators of the Relation Between Individual Race-Related Stress and Mental Health Symptoms for African American Women. *Psychol Women Q.* 2011;35(2):215-226. doi:10.1177/0361684311399388
- Benzein E, Saveman B -i. One step towards the understanding of hope: a concept analysis.
 Int J Nurs Stud. 1998;35(6):322-329. doi:10.1016/S0020-7489(98)00045-5
- 73. Ebright PR, Lyon B. Understanding Hope and Factors That Enhance Hope in Women With Breast Cancer. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 2002;29(3). https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=97caf02f-9163-434ab1bf-e05f28062d7a%40redis. Accessed May 5, 2022.
- 74. Wonghongkul T, Moore SM, Musil C, Schneider S, Deimling G. The influence of uncertainty in illness, stress appraisal, and hope on coping in survivors of breast cancer. *Cancer Nurs*. 2000;23(6):422-429. doi:10.1097/00002820-200012000-00004
- Hasson-Ohayon I, Braun M, Galinsky D, Baider L. Religiosity and Hope: A Path for Women Coping With a Diagnosis of Breast Cancer. *Psychosomatics*. 2009;50(5):525-533. doi:10.1016/S0033-3182(09)70846-1
- Gallagher MW, Long LJ, Richardson A, D'Souza JM. Resilience and Coping in Cancer Survivors: The Unique Effects of Optimism and Mastery. *Cognit Ther Res*. 2019;43(1):32-44. doi:10.1007/s10608-018-9975-9
- 77. Carver CS, Scheier MF, Segerstrom SC. Optimism. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2010;30(7):879-889. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2010.01.006
- 78. Sumpio C, Jeon S, Northouse LL, Knobf MT. Optimism, symptom distress, illness appraisal, and coping in patients with advanced-stage cancer diagnoses undergoing

chemotherapy treatment. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 2017;44(3):384-392. doi:10.1188/17.ONF.384-392

- 79. Carver CS, Pozo C, Harris SD, et al. How coping mediates the effect of optimism on distress: A study of women with early stage breast cancer. In: *Cancer Patients and Their Families: Readings on Disease Course, Coping, and Psychological Interventions.*Washington: American Psychological Association; 1999:97-127. doi:10.1037/10338-005
- Miller DL, Manne SL, Taylor K, Keates J, Dougherty J. Psychological Distress and Well-Being in Advanced Cancer: The Effects of Optimism and Coping. Vol 3.; 1996. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/BF01996132.pdf. Accessed May 5, 2022.
- Stanton AL, Snider PR. Coping with a breast cancer diagnosis: A prospective study. *Heal Psychol.* 1993;12(1):16-23. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.12.1.16
- Ramiah A Al, Hewstone M, Dovidio JF, Penner LA. The Social Psychology of Discrimination: Theory, Measurement and Consequences. In: Bond L, McGinnity F, Russell H, eds. *Making Equality Count*. Dublin: The Liffey Press; 2010.
- 83. Brown TN, Williams DR, Jackson JS, et al. "Being black and feeling blue": the mental health consequences of racial discrimination. *Race Soc.* 2000;2(2):117-131. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-9524(00)00010-3
- 84. Williams DR, Lawrence JA, Davis BA, Vu C. Understanding how discrimination can affect health. *Health Serv Res*. 2019;54(S2):1374-1388. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.13222
- Harnois CE, Bastos JL, Campbell ME, Keith VM. Measuring perceived mistreatment across diverse social groups: An evaluation of the Everyday Discrimination Scale. *Soc Sci Med.* 2019;232:298-306. doi:10.1016/J.SOCSCIMED.2019.05.011
- 86. Taylor TR, Williams CD, Makambi KH, et al. Racial Discrimination and Breast Cancer

Incidence in US Black Women: The Black Women's Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2007;166(1):46-54. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm056

- 87. Merluzzi T V, Philip EJ, Zhang Z, Sullivan C. Perceived discrimination, coping, and quality of life for African-American and Caucasian persons with cancer. *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol.* 2015;21(3):337-344. doi:10.1037/a0037543
- Richeson JA, Shelton JN. Negotiating Interracial Interactions: Costs, Consequences, and Possibilities. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* 2007;16(6):316-320. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007.00528.x
- Scott LD. Correlates of coping with perceived discriminatory experiences among African American adolescents. *J Adolesc*. 2004;27(2):123-137. doi:10.1016/J.ADOLESCENCE.2003.11.005
- Scott LD, Laura House JE. Relationship of Distress and Perceived Control to Coping With Perceived Racial Discrimination Among Black Youth. *J Black Psychol*. 2005;31(3):254-272. doi:10.1177/0095798405278494
- Swim JK, Hyers LL, Cohen LL, Fitzgerald DC, Bylsma WH. African American College Students' Experiences With Everyday Racism: Characteristics of and Responses to These Incidents. J Black Psychol. 2003;29(1):38-67. doi:10.1177/0095798402239228
- 92. Watson NN, Hunter CD. Anxiety and depression among African American women: The costs of strength and negative attitudes toward psychological help-seeking. *Cult Divers Ethn Minor Psychol.* 2015;21(4):604-612. doi:10.1037/cdp0000015
- 93. James S. John Henryism and the health of African-Americans. *Cult Med Psychiatry*. 1994;18:163-182.
- 94. Woods-Giscombé CL. Superwoman schema: African American women's views on stress,

strength, and health. *Qual Health Res*. 2010;20(5):668-683. doi:10.1177/1049732310361892

- 95. Abrams JA, Maxwell M, Pope M, Belgrave FZ. Carrying the World With the Grace of a Lady and the Grit of a Warrior: Deepening Our Understanding of the "Strong Black Woman" Schema. doi:10.1177/0361684314541418
- 96. Abrams JA, Hill A, Maxwell M. Underneath the Mask of the Strong Black Woman Schema: Disentangling Influences of Strength and Self-Silencing on Depressive Symptoms among U.S. Black Women. *Sex Roles*. 2019;80(9-10):517-526. doi:10.1007/s11199-018-0956-y
- 97. Liao KYH, Wei M, Yin M. The Misunderstood Schema of the Strong Black Woman: Exploring Its Mental Health Consequences and Coping Responses Among African American Women. *Psychol Women Q.* 2020;44(1):84-104. doi:10.1177/0361684319883198
- 98. Black AR, Woods-Giscombé C. Applying the Stress and 'Strength' Hypothesis to Black Women's Breast Cancer Screening Delays. *Stress Heal*. 2012;28(5):389-396. doi:10.1002/smi.2464
- 99. Woods-Giscombé CL, Black AR. Mind-Body Interventions to Reduce Risk for Health Disparities Related to Stress and Strength Among African American Women: The Potential of Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction, Loving-Kindness, and the NTU Therapeutic Framework. *Complement Health Pract Rev.* 2010;15(3):115-131. doi:10.1177/1533210110386776
- 100. Quach T, Nuru-Jeter A, Morris P, et al. Experiences and Perceptions of MedicalDiscrimination Among a Multiethnic Sample of Breast Cancer Patients in the Greater San

Francisco Bay Area, California. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011

- 101. Bennett GG, Merritt MM, Sollers JJ, et al. Stress, coping, and health outcomes among African-Americans: a review of the John Henryism hypothesis. *Psychol & amp; Heal*. 2004;19(3):369-383. doi:10.1080/0887044042000193505
- James SA, Hartnett SA, Kalsbeek WD. John Henryism and Blood Pressure Differences Among Black Men. Vol 6.; 1983.
 https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/BF01315113.pdf. Accessed January 30, 2022.
- 103. Felix AS, Shisler R, Nolan TS, et al. High-Effort Coping and Cardiovascular Disease among Women: A Systematic Review of the John Henryism Hypothesis. *J Urban Heal*. 2019;96(S1):12-22. doi:10.1007/s11524-018-00333-1
- 104. Subramanyam MA, James SA, Diez-Roux A V, et al. Socioeconomic status, John Henryism and blood pressure among African-Americans in the Jackson Heart Study. Soc Sci Med. 2013;93:139-146. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.06.016
- Brody GH, Yu T, Miller GE, Ehrlich KB, Chen E. John Henryism Coping and Metabolic Syndrome Among Young Black Adults. *Psychosom Med.* 2018;80(2):216-221. doi:10.1097/PSY.00000000000540
- 106. LeBrón AMW, Schulz AJ, Mentz G, White Perkins D. John Henryism, socioeconomic position, and blood pressure in a multi-ethnic urban community. *Ethn Dis*. 2015;25(1):24-30. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25812248. Accessed December 14, 2021.
- 107. Dressler WW, Bindon JR, Neggers YH. John Henryism, gender, and arterial blood pressure in an African American community. *Psychosom Med.* 1998;60(5):620-624.
- 108. Barajas CB, Jones SCT, Milam AJ, et al. Coping, Discrimination, and Physical Health

Conditions Among Predominantly Poor, Urban African Americans: Implications for Community-Level Health Services. *J Community Health*. 2019;44(5):954-962. doi:10.1007/s10900-019-00650-9

- 109. Clark R, Adams JH. Moderating effects of perceived racism on John Henryism and blood pressure reactivity in black female college students. *Ann Behav Med.* 2004;28(2):126-131.
- Merritt MM, McCallum TJ, Fritsch T. How Much Striving Is Too Much? John Henryism Active Coping Predicts Worse Daily Cortisol Responses for African American but Not White Female Dementia Family Caregivers. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2011;19(5):451-460. doi:10.1097/JGP.0B013E3181EAFFA4
- Jackson LA, Adams-Campbell L. John Henryism and blood pressure in black college students. *J Behav Med*. 1994;17(1):69-79.
- 112. Nordby G, Ekeberg O, Knardahl S, Os I. A double-blind study of psychosocial factors in 40-year-old women with essential hypertension. *Psychother Psychosom*. 1995;63(3-4):142-150.
- 113. Williams D, Lawler K. Stress and illness in low-income women: the roles of hardiness,John Henryism, and race. *Women Health*. 2001;32(4):61-75.
- 114. Barksdale DJ, Woods-Giscombé C, Logan JG. Stress, cortisol, and nighttime blood pressure dipping in nonhypertensive Black American women. *Biol Res Nurs*. 2013;15(3):330-337.
- Bronder EC, Speight SL, Witherspoon KM, Thomas AJ. John Henryism, Depression, and Perceived Social Support in Black Women. *J Black Psychol*. 2014;40(2):115-137. doi:10.1177/0095798412474466
- 116. McDougald CS, Edwards CL, Wood M, et al. Coping as Predictor of Psychiatric

Functioning and Pain in Patients with Sickle Cell Disease (SCD). *J African Am Stud*. 2009;13(1):47-62.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/41819191?seq=6#metadata_info_tab_contents. Accessed January 31, 2022.

- 117. Kiecolt KJ, Hughes M, Keith VM. Can A High Sense of Control and John Henryism be Bad for Mental Health? *Sociol Q.* 2009;50(4):693-714. doi:10.1111/j.1533-8525.2009.01152.x
- Mullings L. The Sojourner Syndrome: Race, Class, and Gender in Health and Illness.*Voices*. 2002;6(1):32-36. doi:10.1525/vo.2002.6.1.32
- 119. Kaptein AA, Broadbent E. Illness cognition assessment. In: *Cambridge Handbook of Psychology, Health & Medicine*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007:268-273. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511543579.059
- 120. Petrie KJ, Weinman J. Why illness perceptions matter. *Clin Med*. 2006;6:536-539. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4952762/pdf/536.pdf. Accessed January 31, 2022.
- Hagger MS, Orbell S. A Meta-Analytic Review of the Common-Sense Model of Illness
 Representations. *Psychol Heal*. 2003;18(2):141-184. doi:10.1080/088704403100081321
- 122. Brown JSL, Casey SJ, Bishop AJ, Prytys M, Whittinger N, Weinman J. HOW BLACK AFRICAN AND WHITE BRITISH WOMEN PERCEIVE DEPRESSION AND HELP-SEEKING: A PILOT VIGNETTE STUDY. *Int J Soc Psychiatry*. 2010;57(4). doi:10.1177/0020764009357400
- 123. Hoffman-Goetz L, Mills SL. Cultural barriers to cancer screening among AfricanAmerican women: A critical review of the qualitative literature: Research on Gender,

Behavior, and Policy. In: *Black Women's Health: A Special Double Issue of Women's Health.*; 2014.

- 124. Lannin DR, Mathews HF, Mitchell J, Swanson MS, Swanson FH, Edwards MS. Influence of socioeconomic and cultural factors on racial differences in late-stage presentation of breast cancer. J Am Med Assoc. 1998;279(22):1801-1807. doi:10.1001/jama.279.22.1801
- 125. Phillips JM, Cohen MZ, Tarzian AJ. Breast cancer screening and African American women: fear, fatalism, and silence. *Oncol Nurs Forum*. 1999;26(3):561-571. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10214597. Accessed January 31, 2022.
- 126. Tessaro I, Eng E, Smith J. Underserved Populations Breast Cancer Screening in Older African-American Women: Qualitative Research Findings. *Am J Heal Promot*. 1994;8(4):286-293. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.4278/0890-1171-8.4.286?casa_token=4SN4i_uYHcQAAAAA:TE8RRrwwspXxe_t7SW54UY8Gy1pUKC MnmW8K_0tTc7fYJppyfhqFULfdG3mcVj_1fNloSi656tE. Accessed January 31, 2022.
- 127. Guidry JJ, Matthews-Juarez P, Copeland VA. Barriers to Breast Cancer Control for African-American Women The Interdependence of Culture and Psychosocial Issues. 2003. doi:10.1002/cncr.11016
- 128. Phillips JM, Cohen MZ, Tarzian AJ. African American Women's Experiences with Breast Cancer Screening. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2001;33(2):135-140. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2001.00135.x
- 129. Wang C, Miller SM, Egleston BL, Hay JL, Weinberg DS. Beliefs about the causes of breast and colorectal cancer among women in the general population. *Cancer Causes Control.* 2010;21(1):99-107. doi:10.1007/s10552-009-9439-3
- 130. Adler NE, Boyce WT, Chesney MA, Folkman S, Syme SL. Socioeconomic Inequalities in

Health: No Easy Solution. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc*. 1993;269(24):3140-3145. doi:10.1001/jama.1993.03500240084031

- 131. Spikes T, Murden R, McKinnon II, et al. Association of Net Worth and Ambulatory Blood Pressure in Early Middle-aged African American Women. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2022;5(2):e220331. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.0331
- Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), NIMH.
 http://www.chcr.brown.edu/pcoc/cesdscale.pdf. Accessed May 31, 2019.
- Makambi KH, Williams CD, Taylor TR, Rosenberg L, Adams-Campbell LL. An assessment of the CES-D scale factor structure in black women: The Black Women's Health Study. *Psychiatry Res.* 2009;168(2):163-170. doi:10.1016/J.PSYCHRES.2008.04.022
- 134. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder. *Arch Intern Med.* 2006;166(10):1092. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- 135. Ganz PA, Bower JE, Partridge AH, et al. Screening for Depression in Younger Breast Cancer Survivors: Outcomes From Use of the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire. *JNCI Cancer Spectr.* 2021;5(3). doi:10.1093/jncics/pkab017
- 136. Yu L, Buysse DJ, Germain A, et al. Development of Short Forms From the PROMIS Sleep Disturbance and Sleep-Related Impairment Item Banks. *Behav Sleep Med*. 2012;10(1):6-24.
- 137. Rothrock NE, Cook KF, O'Connor M, Cella D, Smith AW, Yount SE. Establishing clinically-relevant terms and severity thresholds for Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System® (PROMIS®) measures of physical function, cognitive
function, and sleep disturbance in people with cancer using standard setting. *Qual Life Res.* 2019;28(12):3355-3362.

- 138. Scheier MF, Carver CS, Bridges MW. Distinguishing optimism from neuroticism (and trait anxiety, self-mastery, and self-esteem): A reevaluation of the Life Orientation Test. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1994;67(6):1063-1078.
- 139. Snyder CR, Harris C, Anderson JR, et al. *The Will and the Ways: Development and Validation of an Individual-Differences Measure of Hope*. Vol 60.; 1991.
 https://artsintegratedresources.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/The-Will-and-the-Ways_Validation-of-Hope_Snyder.pdf. Accessed May 9, 2022.
- 140. Wilson DK, Jr. ONB, Guardino C, Schetter CD. Resilience resources in low-income Black, Latino, and White fathers. *Soc Sci Med*. 2021;282.
- 141. Soylu C, Babacan T, Sever AR, Altundag K. Patients' understanding of treatment goals and disease course and their relationship with optimism, hope, and quality of life: a preliminary study among advanced breast cancer outpatients before receiving palliative treatment. *Support Care Cancer*. 2016;24:3481-3488.
- Williams DR, Yu Y, Jackson JS. Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health Socio-Economic Status, Stress and Discrimination.; 1997.
 https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/67159/10.1177_1359105397002 00305.pdf?sequence=2&isAllowed=y. Accessed June 9, 2019.
- 143. Williams DR, Mohammed SA. Discrimination and racial disparities in health: evidence and needed research. J Behav Med. 2009;32:20-47. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9185-0
- 144. Woods-Giscombe CL, Allen AM, Black AR, Steed TC, Li Y, Lackey & C. The Giscombe Superwoman Schema Questionnaire: Psychometric Properties and Associations with

Mental Health and Health Behaviors in African American Women. *Issues Ment Health Nurs*. 2019;40(8):672-681. doi:10.1080/01612840.2019.1584654

- 145. Broadbent E, Petrie KJ, Main J, Weinman J. The Brief Illness Perception Questionnaire. J Psychosom Res. 2006;60(6):631-637. doi:10.1016/J.JPSYCHORES.2005.10.020
- 146. Fernander AF, Dura'n REF, Saab PG, Llabre MM, Schneiderman N. Assessing the Reliability and Validity of the John Henry Active Coping Scale in an Urban Sample of African Americans and white Americans. *Ethn Heal*. 2010;8(2):147-161. doi:10.1080/13557850303563
- Stanton AL, Kirk SB, Cameron CL, Danoff-Burg S. Coping Through Emotional Approach: Scale Construction and Validation. *J Pers Soc Psychol*. 2000;78(6):1150-1169. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.78.6.1150
- 148. Schoemann AM, Boulton AJ, Short SD. Monte Carlo Power Analysis for Indirect Effects.
- 149. Lake PW, Conley CC, Pal T, Sutton SK, Vadaparampil ST. Anxiety and depression among Black breast cancer survivors: Examining the role of patient-provider communication and cultural values. *Patient Educ Couns*. 2022;105(7):2391-2396.
- 150. Howard-Anderson J, Ganz PA, Bower JE, Stanton AL. Quality of Life, Fertility Concerns, and Behavioral Health Outcomes in Younger Breast Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. 2012;104(5):386-405. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr541
- Mols F, Vingerhoets AJJM, Coebergh JW, Poll-Franse LV van de. Quality of life among long-term breast cancer survivors: A systematic review. *Eur J Cancer*. 2005;41(17):2613-2619.
- Cimprich B, Ronis DL, Gloria Martinez-Ramos. Age at Diagnosis and Quality of Life in Breast Cancer Survivors. *Cancer Pract.* 2002;10(2):85-93.

- 153. Scheier MF, Helgeson VS. Really, disease doesn't Matter? A commentary on correlates of depressive symptoms in women treated for early-stage breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2006;24(16).
- 154. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Psychol*. 2006;3(2):77-101.
- 155. David Byrne. A worked example of Braun and Clarke's approach to reflexive thematic analysis. *Qual Quant*. 2021;56:1391-1412.
- 156. Ryan GW, Bernard HR. Techniques to Identify Themes. *Field methods*. 2003;15(1):85-109.
- 157. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qual Res Sport Exerc Heal*.2019;11(4):589-597.
- 158. HealthMeasures. PROMIS Score Cut Points.
- 159. Khahra A, Thomas A, Caffrey S, et al. Hope springs: Moderating the link between racial discrimination and depressive symptoms for African American emerging adults. *J Black Psychol.* 2019;45(5):376-404.
- 160. Watson-Singleton NN, LoParo D, Mekawi Y, Hampton-Anderson JN, Kaslow NJ. Africultural Coping Systems Inventory: Psychometrics in a Clinical Sample of African American Women. J Black Psychol. 2020;46(6-7):457-481.
- 161. Perez AD, Dufault SM, Spears EC, Chae DH, Woods-Giscombe CL, Allen AM. Superwoman Schema and John Henryism among African American women: An intersectional perspective on coping with racism. *Soc Sci Med.* 2023;316.
- 162. Shelby RA, Crespin TR, Gregorio SMW-D, et al. Optimism, social support, and adjustment in African American women with breast cancer. *J Behav Med*. 2008;31:433-

444.

- 163. Friedman LC, Kalidas M, Elledge R, et al. Optimism, Social Support and Psychosocial Functioning Among Women with Breast Cancer. *Psychooncology*. 2006;15:593-603.
- 164. Trunzo JJ, Pinto BM. Social Support as a Mediator of Optimism and Distress in Breast Cancer Survivors. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2003;71(4):805-811.
- 165. Greer TM. Coping strategies as moderators of the relation between individual race-related stress and mental health symptoms for african american women. *Psychol Women Q*. 2011;35(2):215-226. doi:10.1177/0361684311399388
- 166. Centers for Disease Control. Social Determinants of Health. https://www.cdc.gov/publichealth-gateway/php/about/social-determinants-of-health.html.
- 167. Sallis JF, Bowles HR, Bauman A, et al. Neighborhood Environments and Physical Activity Among Adults in 11 Countries. *Am J Prev Med.* 2009;36(6):484-490.
- 168. Vilardaga JCP, Fisher HM, Winger JG, et al. Pain, depressive symptoms, and self-efficacy for pain management: examination in African-American women with breast cancer. *Support Care Cancer*. 2022;30:6633-6640.
- 169. CULVER JL, ARENA PL, WIMBERLY SR, ANTONI MH, CARVER CS. COPING AMONG AFRICAN-AMERICAN, HISPANIC, AND NON-HISPANIC WHITE WOMEN RECENTLY TREATED FOR EARLY STAGE BREAST CANCER. *Psychol Heal.* 2004;19(2):157-166.
- 170. Jones MK, Hill-Jarrett TG, Latimer K, et al. The Role of Coping in the Relationship Between Endorsement of the Strong Black Woman Schema and Depressive Symptoms Among Black Women. J Black Psychol. 2021;47(7):578-592.
- 171. Lewis-Coles, Lyris ME, Constantine MG. Racism-related stress, Africultural coping, and

religious problem-solving among African Americans. *Cult Divers Ethn Minor Psychol*. 2006;12(3).

- 172. Farr DE, Brandt HM, Friedman DB, et al. False-positive mammography and mammography screening intentions among black women: the influence of emotions and coping strategies. *Ethn Health*. 2019;25(4):580-597.
- 173. Karvonen KA, Balay-Dustrude E, Do A, Bradford MC, Phipps A, Rosenberg AR. Race, ethnicity, and experienced racism are associated with adverse physical and mental health outcomes among cancer survivors. *Cancer*. 2023;129(19):3023-3033.
- 174. Erving CL, Zajdel RA, Blevins KM, et al. The association between Superwoman schema and subjective sleep quality among Black women. *Sleep Heal*. 2024.
- 175. Woods-Giscombe CL, Williams KP, Conklin J, et al. A scoping review of the concept of resilience among African American women. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs*. 2023;46:107-120.
- 176. Luthar SS, Cicchetti D, Becker B. *The Construct of Resilience: A Critical Evaluation and Guidelines for Future Work*. Vol 71.; 2000. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.1088.7405&rep=rep1&type=pd
 f. Accessed February 1, 2022.
- 177. Brownlow BN, Cheavens JS, Vasey MW, Thayer JF, Hill LK. Culturally compelled coping and depressive symptoms in Black Americans: Examining the role of psychophysiological regulatory capacity. *Emotion*. 2023.
- 178. Romero RE. The icon of the strong Black woman: The paradox of strength. In: Jackson LC, Greene B, eds. *Psychotherapy with African American Women: Innovations in Psychodynamic Perspectives and Practice*. New York: Guilford Press; 2000:225-238.
- 179. Kozusznik MW, Puig-Perez S, Kożusznik B, Pulopulos MM. The Relationship Between

Coping Strategies and Sleep Problems: The Role of Depressive Symptoms. *Ann Behav Med.* 2021;55(3).

- Thomas KS, Bower J, Hoyt MA, Sepah S. Disrupted sleep in breast and prostate cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy: the role of coping processes. *Psychooncology*. 2010;19:767-776.
- 181. James SE, Riggan KA, Halyard M, Kelly M, Cobran E, Allyse MA. The "Strong Black Woman" Paradox: Insights from a Cohort of Black Breast and Ovarian Cancer Patients and Family Members. J Racial Ethn Heal Disparities. 2024.
- 182. Denyse T, Martin KJ, Kim JHJ, et al. "No Complaining, No Crying": A Qualitative Study of the Strong Black Woman Schema in the Breast Cancer Context. Ann Behav Med. June 2023. doi:10.1093/abm/kaad029
- 183. Martin KJ, Denyse T, Pageot YK, et al. "I'm Fighting for My Life": Exploring Interactions Between Black Women with Breast Cancer and Healthcare Providers. *Qual Health Res.* 2023;33(9):753-764. doi:10.1177/10497323231168581
- 184. Chandran U, Hirshfield KM, Bandera E V. The role of Anthropometric and Nutritional Factors on Breast Cancer Risk in African American Women. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(4):738-748.
- 185. Ligibel JA. Lifestyle Factors in Cancer Survivorship. *J Clin Oncol.* 2012;30(30).
- 186. Lawson EJ. A narrative analysis: A black woman's perceptions of breast cancer risks and early breast cancer detection. *Cancer Nurs*. 1998;21(6):421-429.
- 187. Ratcliff CG, Zepeda SG, Hall MH, et al. Patient characteristics associated with sleep disturbance in breast cancer survivors. *Support Care Cancer*. 2021;29(5):2601-2611. doi:10.1007/s00520-020-05777-3

- 188. Sheppard VB, Harper FWK, Davis K, Hirpa F, Makambi K. The importance of contextual factors and age in association with anxiety and depression in Black breast cancer patients. *Psychooncology*. 2014;23(2):143-150. doi:10.1002/pon.3382
- 189. Aburizik A, Brindle M, Johnson E, Provencio A, Kivlighan M, LeBeau B. Black women's distress matters: Examining gendered racial disparities in psycho-oncology referral rates. *Psychooncology*. 2023;32:933-941.